
 

 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Thursday, 6 June 2019 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Miss C Tuohy (0116 305 5483). 

Email: cat.tuohy@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. A. E. Pearson CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 

Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 
Dr. P. Bremner CC 
Mr. D. Harrison CC 

 

Mr. Max Hunt CC 
Mr. J. Morgan CC 
Mr J. Poland CC 
Mrs. J. Richards CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
 
 

1.  
  

Appointment of Chairman.  
 

 
 

 

 To note that Mr. A. E. Pearson CC was nominated as Chairman 
elect to the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at the Annual Meeting of the County Council held on 
May 15th 2019. 
 

 

2.  
  

Election of Deputy Chairman.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Minutes of the meeting held on 7 March 2019.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 18) 

4.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

 

5.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

6.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

7.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 

 
 

 

9.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing 
Order 36.  
 

 
 

 

 Save the 159 Bus and stop cuts to the 153 Bus. 
 
A petition is to be presented by Mr Crooks CC, signed by 1303 local 
residents, in the following terms: 
 
“We the undersigned call for the 159 Bus Service to be kept it’s a 
vital service for residents living in many Leicestershire towns and 
villages and we call for cuts to the 153 service to be dropped. 
 
 
Pedestrian Crossing outside the Primary School on Dragon 
Lane, Newbold Verdon. 
 
A petition is to be presented, signed by 710 local residents, in the 
following terms: 
 
“We the undersigned Petition Leicestershire County Council to 
install a Pedestrian Crossing outside the Primary School on Dragon 
Lane, Newbold Verdon.” 
 

 

10.  
  

Response to Petition: Request for the Speed 
Reduction of the B581 Station Road  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 19 - 24) 

11.  
  

Response to Petition: Requesting Action on 
Road Safety Grounds Covering Roads in 
Queniborough  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 25 - 44) 

12.  
  

A5 - Watling Street Bridge Strikes, Hinckley  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 45 - 54) 

 There will be presentations from Highways England and Network 
Rail for this item. 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 
 

 

13.  
  

North and East Melton Mowbray Distributor 
Road - Planning Application  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 55 - 60) 

14.  
  

Potential Transfer of Part of the Ashby Canal  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 61 - 72) 

15.  
  

Clean Air Strategy 2019  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 73 - 96) 

16.  
  

Dates of Future Meetings.  
 

 
 

 

 Future meetings of the Environment and Transport Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee will be held at 2.00pm on the following dates:- 
 
5 September 2019 
7 November 2019 
16 January 2020 
5 March 2020 
4 June 2020 
3 September 2020 
5 November 2020 
 

 

17.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

 

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  The 
following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point for 
developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 
 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held at County Hall, Glenfield on Thursday, 7 March 2019.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. A. E. Pearson CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 
Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 
Mr. Max Hunt CC 
Mr. J. Morgan CC 
 

Mr T. Parton CC 
Mr J. Poland CC 
Mrs. J. Richards CC 
Mrs B. Seaton CC 
 

 
 
Webcast. 
 
A webcast of the meeting can be viewed at 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cSW8ZEeDS2E 
 
In attendance. 
 
Mr. B. Pain CC, Cabinet Lead Member for Environment and Transport. 
 
Mrs C. Radford CC, Cabinet Support Member for Environment and Transport.  
 

153. Minutes.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 January 2019 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed.  
 

154. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that questions had been received under Standing Order 35 
from Mrs Jan Bartholomew. 
 
Mrs Bartholomew, a member of the public asked the following questions: 

“I was shocked and horrified to read the conclusions of the Intergovernmental Panel for 
Climate Change report to the United Nations last autumn which stated that we have as 
little as 12 years to avoid the worst impacts of climate breakdown and that insufficient 
action during these years will lead us to a tipping point at which climate change becomes 
irreversible. The report concludes that “limiting global warming to 1.5C would require 
rapid, far-reaching and unprecedented changes in all aspects of society”. 

I have since read the County's Environment Strategy targets but, comprehensive though 
they are, as they are based on the Paris Agreement of 2015, are clearly no longer 
anywhere near adequate.  

Will the County Council therefore consider:- 

5 Agenda Item 3

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cSW8ZEeDS2E


 
 

 

 

a) declaring an immediate Climate Emergency to guide every aspect of decision- making, 
with the aim of achieving carbon neutrality by 2025, as has been done by other 
Councils? 

b) taking all necessary steps to make people aware of the seriousness of the situation 
and of the urgent need for change, so that we may all play our part including the 
establishment of a series of Citizens' Assemblies, which have been used successfully 
to resolve previously intractable problems? 

c) pressing Central Government to lead the way by committing to major investment in 
alternative forms of energy and by making available to the Council the funds and 
powers needed to achieve the new and much more ambitious target of reaching 
climate neutrality by 2025?” 

 

Mr Pearson, replied as follows: 
 

 
“a)  The County Council is aware of the concerning findings of the Intergovernmental 

Panel on Climate Change report that was issued in October 2018. It estimates that 
there are only 11 years left to act decisively on climate change and to be able to keep 
global warming within 1.5°C, which is critical for the well-being of our planet. 

 

The County Council has a longstanding commitment to the environment and to 
meeting the challenge of climate change and has signed up to the Nottingham 
Declaration on Climate Change in 2006, to Climate Local in 2012 and to the UK 100 
Pledge in 2018. 
 
In signing up to these commitments and pledges the County Council has sought to 
back this up by actions so that such pledges and commitments are meaningful. The 
actions taken have resulted in the County Council, being accepted into the Carbon 
Trust’s Local Authorities Carbon Management Programme in 2008 producing a 
comprehensive Council wide Environment Strategy and Action Plan in 2009,, 
establishing a robust Environmental Management System for the Council in 2011, 
working to the ISO14001 standard and more recently the launch of the Council’s new 
Environment Strategy in 2018. 
 
The actions undertaken in the delivery of these commitments and pledges have 
resulted in a 61% reduction in our carbon emissions and a 55% reduction in our 
wider greenhouse gas emissions since 2008-09. Our target was to achieve a 34% 
reduction in both measures by March 2021. Therefore, the Council achieved its 
targets 4 years ahead of schedule and exceeded them by an average of 40%. 
 
While we can acknowledge that there is an increasing urgency for action to avoid the 
worst impacts of climate change and that this needs to be achieved through the 
achievement of carbon neutrality in the quickest time possible, as a Council we can 
only operate within our scope of control and influence. We also need to balance the 
competing demands on our ever decreasing resources and finances. We do not 
believe that the technological solutions currently exist that would allow carbon 
neutrality to be achieved by 2025 and the cost of carbon offsetting would be 
prohibitive for the Council. In view of this it would be disingenuous of us as a Council 
to declare a climate emergency and commit to achieving carbon neutrality by 2025. 

6



 
 

 

 

Having said this it is important to set on record that the County Council is committed 
to taking actions aimed at reducing the worst impact of climate change.  
 
Our Environment Strategy 2018-2030 commits us to meeting the challenge of climate 
change and to reducing our greenhouse gas emissions at a minimum by 38% by 
2030 against a 2016-17 baseline. This is in line with current national targets. We 
have also committed to reviewing these targets in the event of any changes in 
national targets and to ensuring a continuous improvement in our performance. 
 
We will however continue to take action to meet and exceed where possible the 
commitments and targets set out in our Environment Strategy. These actions will 
include: 

 

 Maintaining a Climate Change Risk Register which identifies service areas most at 

risk from the impacts of climate change and identifies actions to both mitigate and 

adapt to these risks;  

 Considering the environmental implications of all major purchases and projects 

and seek to minimise these where possible;  

 Developing a project to install a 10MW solar farm on council owned land;  

 Working with the Leicester & Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership and other 

partners to identify how we can work together to move Leicestershire towards a 

low carbon energy and transport future; 

 Continuing to work with Leicester City Council to deliver Fosse Energy which 

provides affordable energy to the people of Leicestershire, including a renewable 

energy tariff; 

 Adding to the 872 kilowatts of solar panels we have installed across the council 

estate and the biomass boiler installed at County Hall;  

 Providing grants to communities to improve the energy efficiency of their 

community buildings and to take other actions on reducing climate change and 

environmental decline; 

 Launching a Food Plan which aims to reduce the environmental impact of food 

from field to fork and beyond, as well as addressing the serious issues of food 

poverty and obesity. 

 
 
 
b)   The County Council believes that the challenges posed by climate change require a 

national conversation. However through the delivery of our Environment Strategy and 
our work with partner organisations we do and will continue to take steps and explore 
avenues to increase people’s awareness and understanding of the threats of climate 
change and supporting them in taking action in their communities and in their own 
lives to make the necessary changes to mitigate and adapt to climate change.  

 
c)  We will continue to lobby Government to take appropriate action on climate change 

and to provide adequate powers and resources to local government through our 
responses to government consultations in this area and other opportunities to raise 
these issues. 

 
 

7



 
 

 

 

In conclusion, I believe as a Council we strive to minimise our impact on the environment 
and respond proactively to the challenges of climate change. We take our leadership role 
seriously and seek to build on the global and national commitments made to address the 
situation by working with partners to take action in Leicestershire. However, we can only 
do this within the scope of our control and influence, but as you will have seen from what 
we have already done and our continuing action, we do go beyond national commitments 
where we can.  
 
While local government has a key role to play in responding to the challenge of climate 
change and a deteriorating environment, it cannot meet this challenge alone and will 
need to work with partners and communities to ensure a better future for the people of 
Leicestershire and for future generations. “ 
 
Mrs Bartholomew asked the following supplementary questions to the reply received: 
 

a) “What form of lobbying is the County Council taking, and what does the County 
Council consider to be adequate powers and response?” 

 
b) “Is the Council intending to change the way they lobby given the results of the 

IPCC climate report to the United Nations last October?” 
  

c) “Are the Council’s current targets inadequate?” 
 
The Director of Environment and Transport on behalf of the Chairman responded as 
follows: 
 

a)  It was standard practice for the County Council to actively engage with 
Government consultations to set out the Councils position. Where the Council 
believed there needed to be further investment at a national level or clarity about 
the Government’s ambition it would be included in the consultation response. 

 
The Government had also tasked local areas through the LEP’s to produce Energy 
Infrastructure Strategy’s which set out the challenges and concerns locally. 

 
b) The County could only lobby based on the current position that had been set by 

Cabinet in the Environment and Strategy. However, the Strategy was designed to 
be a live document and as such was not limited to targets therein, in cases where 
more could be done, it would be, such as with Street lighting.  

 
c) The Strategy was not designed to age. If national government changed its position 

the Council would be able to react. However, the Council had to balance its 
spending on environmental issues alongside the context of pressures on wider 
Council services. 

 
 

155. Questions asked by members.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 
Mr Hunt CC asked the following questions of the Chairman: 
 

8



 
 

 

 

1.  “Many people I meet feel that the county is shuffling responsibility for car parking   
onto ill-equipped school heads whose responsibilities lie elsewhere.  So what 
evidence is there that, as was reported to Council last month "schools in general are 
working positively with the Council to tackle the issues that arise from inconsiderate 
parking" and that this is working? 

 
2.  Could he tell the Committee exactly how we are actively working with Sustrans and 

Leicestershire and Rutland Sport, to deliver “a joined up approach at a level never 
achieved before” and what does ‘joined-up’ mean in this respect? 

 
3.  What, briefly, is the job of the Active Travel Schools Officer who is charged with 

support schools in the delivery of their travel plans, who does the officer report to, is 
this their sole responsibility and how many schools will be involved? 

 
4.  We are told that the School Camera Car Scheme which commenced in April 2018 

and has funding for two years and at the end of the project the data will be 
assessed.  Will the scheme cease in April 2020 while the data is assessed or will we 
receive an assessment report earlier this financial year?  What evidence is being 
collected in order to evaluate the longer term effectiveness of this scheme?  For 
example, are we collecting Penalties issued with and without detection by the School 
Camera Car at the same school over similar time periods? 

 
5.  Why doesn’t the County Council deploy their Civil Enforcement Officers regularly 

around schools at the two key periods of weekdays in term time and attend to 
shoppers’ parking at other times? 

 
6.  What measures are being put in place to actively engage with head teachers using 

the local head teacher email group and when will these be in place?  Is this just a 
kind of information or bulletin board and what are the intended outcomes? 

 
7.  There is some evidence that Travel Plans are not obliged to be presented with 

planning applications for new school buildings.  What controls are in place to ensure 
this should always happen? 

 
8.  Given that the iTrace Travel Planning tool is no longer in use what was the reason for 

abandoning it because it seemed to offer so much? 
 
9.   Could the Chair ask the Director to issue clear and credible instructions indicating 

pathways available to County Councillors who receive regular complaints about 
irresponsible parking around schools?” 

 

  
The Chairman replied as follows: 
 
1. “We understand that the role of the head teacher is a complicated one with their 

responsibility encompassing a number of varied facets; however it is vitally important 
to have their support in improving the parking situation around schools as well as 
promoting other sustainable modes of travel. This is evidenced in the example of 
Elizabeth Woodville Primary School, a school who have achieved gold Modeshift 
STARS accreditation, the regional primary school of the year award as well as being 
one of 5 primary schools attending the national awards in London in March. The head 
teacher there has been a key catalyst in improving the safety of the school 
environment, empowering the pupils through the Junior Road Safety Officer (JRSO) 
scheme and additional opportunities as well as working alongside other partners to 

9



 
 

 

 

make improvements to the infrastructure on the road outside of the school. This has 
contributed to a more positive and engaged experience for the pupils who attend the 
school. While no one party is able to solve such an issue, the head teacher is a key 
stakeholder to engage with in order to achieve the positive changes as evidenced in 
the above example.  

The Safe and Sustainable Travel officer’s (S&STO) role is to promote safe and 
sustainable travel opportunities to schools and their pupils and also promote the use 
of the Modeshift STARS travel planning tool to create school travel plans and deliver 
active travel initiatives. The officer reports to the Safe and Sustainable Travel Team 
Manager. 

The S&STO works on behaviour change/educational measures and initiatives and 
whilst infrastructure changes cannot be made directly the officer has become a point 
of contact for schools to seek improvements by working with the wider Environment 
and Transport Department, breaking down communication and contact barriers.  

Since the S&STO has been in the role, engagement with schools has increased 
significantly. The officer has met individually with 40+ schools with this figure 
increasing as well as those responsible for school physical activity across the county. 
This is in addition to presenting an offer to all schools in the county through the 
Leicestershire and Rutland Sport (LRS) supported School Sport Physical Activity 
Networks (SSPAN’s). As schools become more aware of this role we expect more 
schools to become engaged.  

This ultimately means that the active travel message and associated opportunities 
coupled with road safety education and information around parking relating to 
schools is reaching more pupils than ever before.  

Schools in general are working positively with the Council to tackle the issues that 
arise from inconsiderate parking.   
 
Measures are also being put in place to actively engage with head teachers, using 
the local head teacher email group.  Promoting local and national events, including 
Road Safety Week, Sustrans Cycle to Work Day and the Sustrans Big Pedal; the 
Council offers all head teachers support if they wish to participate in these events. 
 
 

2. The S&STO role is half funded by LRS and the contract for this role has recently 
been extended for a further year. Traditionally County Sports Partnerships have had 
a sport focus. However the industry’s move away from sport as a focus, to health and 
physical activity being more prominent has made the funding for the role possible as 
well as the role being unique locally and nationally. This role has enabled both the 
sustainable travel and physical activity agendas to be delivered holistically whereas 
in the past both agendas were being promoted separately meaning duplication and 
inefficient use of resources. 

The S&STO’s work involves delivering priority 5 of Public Health England’s (PHE) 
whole schools approach to active travel and affording priority to active travel.  

The work with PHE and LRS demonstrates a ‘joined up’ approach meaning we are 
ensuring a holistic approach across a number of fronts to active travel.  

 

3. This is covered in the response to question 1.  

 

10



 
 

 

 

4/5.   In answer to questions 4 and 5, evidence is being recorded regarding penalties 
issued both through Civil Enforcement Officers (CEO) and Camera Car enforcement. 
If a CEO is present it is often noticeable that behaviours are very different and this 
makes it very difficult to compare the two enforcement methods like for like.  
The school keep clear project is part of the wider engagement with schools and 
parents on a more sustainable means of travel to school; therefore various non 
empirical data will be used. A report on the effectiveness of the camera car 
enforcement will be presented prior to April 2020. We now have 135 schools taking 
part or requesting to be considered.   
Whilst CEO’s do undertake patrols at school locations it should be noted that vehicles 
are permitted to stop on a single or double yellow line restriction for loading/boarding 
and alighting purposes for as long as necessary to complete this task. This makes it 
difficult to enforce drop off/pick up activities as they would be classed as 
boarding/alighting. 
It is an offence for a vehicle to stop on the ‘School Keep Clear’ mandatory zig zag 
restrictions, so these are easier for CEO’s to enforce, though, a CEO still has to 
manually log details into a handheld device and record a number of details before 
issuing a penalty, so there is a risk that the vehicle may well have moved off the 
restriction before issue. In contrast, the camera car is able to capture evidence of 
vehicles stopped on mandatory ‘School Keep Clear’ restrictions even if the vehicle is 
only stationary for a short time enabling more efficient and more effective 
enforcement.  
It should also be noted that across the county there are relatively small numbers of 
CEO’s compared to the total number of schools. 
The above was covered in much more detail in a report to the Environment and 
Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 22 November 2017  Parking Near 
Schools,. School Parking 
 

6. Details of the S&STO role were set out in the latest head teacher bulletin. The 
Council will continue to publicise the work and initiatives being delivered by the 
S&STO through this bulletin. The school planning office team are also signposting 
heads and other school officials to the S&STO for support in creating a travel plan.  

 
7.  Supporting schools with the development of a school travel plan has long been an 

integral part of the Environment and Transport Department’s role in encouraging 
active and sustainable travel at schools. This has typically been undertaken on a 
voluntary basis by schools and the Council’s role is to offer advice and guidance in 
developing/maintaining school travel plans. Ultimately though it is the school’s 
responsibility to write and implement them. 
With regard to “new school buildings” the inference is that this relates to the 
expansion of existing schools and through which LCC as the Local Highway Authority 
and statutory consultee to the planning process would appraise the merits and 
highway impact of the development proposal. The National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) requires all developments that will generate significant amounts 
of movement should be required to provide a travel plan, and the application should 
be supported by a transport statement or transport assessment so that the likely 
impacts of the proposal can be assessed (para. 111). Whilst ‘significant’ is not 
specifically defined, the Leicestershire Highway Design Guide does go on to quantify 
development thresholds to determine the normally required level of transport 
assessment work, including travel plans, required in support of planning applications. 
Whilst indicative thresholds are set for a variety of land uses the nature, location and 
scale of a development proposal ultimately determines the requirement for a new or 
revised travel plan. This would also account for where they are not requested for 

11

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5168


 
 

 

 

example if the proposal is of such a small scale that it could not reasonably be 
requested. 
Formal highway advice and responses to planning applications for school expansions 
would typically include an advised planning obligation for a new or revised travel plan 
to ensure an up to date travel plan is implemented. As with any planning obligation 
though this must meet the 6 tests identified in the NPPF of being: necessary; relevant 
to planning and; to the development to be permitted; enforceable; precise and; 
reasonable in all other respects. Ultimately in determining the pending application it is 
the planning authority’s responsibility to determine if a new or revised travel plan can 
be obligated as part of any planning permission granted and which may not always 
align with the formal advice provided by the highway authority. 
 

8.  The Council now encourages schools to use the Modeshift STARS on line travel 
planning tool to develop their travel plan.  
Modeshift is a nationally recognised scheme which provides schools and businesses 
with the ability to not only formulate travel plans in an easier more streamlined way, 
but allows an accreditation process to incentivise and reward schools for participating 
and achieving modal shift and increased levels of active travel.  
Modeshift is endorsed and financially supported by the Department for Transport and 
is currently used by 3500 schools in 69 local authority areas. 
 
Our work with Elizabeth Woodville Primary has led to them being awarded School of 
the Region (Midlands) for their gold level accreditation and during March they are 
attending Parliament to take part in the National School of the Year competition. The 
event will be attended by Jesse Norman, Secretary of State for Transport and will 
generate much positive publicity. 
 

9. Councillors already have a dedicated email address where they can raise queries 
with any department via the Customer Service Centre.   Councillors direct such 
complaints regarding irresponsible school parking via that route.  A fact sheet will be 
issued on the Members Hub.” 

 

Mr Hunt asked the following supplementary question in relation to the fifth part of his 
question. 
 
“Why does the County Council not deploy their Civil Enforcement Officers around school 
hours where the problems regularly occur?” 
 
The Director of Environment and Transport on behalf of the Chairman replied to the effect 
that the Council do deploy Civil Enforcement Officers (CEO) in problem areas, including 
schools. However, there are a limited number of CEO’s and there was a process in place 
to target resources to areas experiencing problems. 
 
While the CEO’s do patrol outside schools, it would be impossible for CEO’s to enforce 
parking at each of the 284 schools in the county every morning and afternoon. 
 

156. Urgent items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

157. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 

12



 
 

 

 

 
No declarations were made. 
 

158. Declarations of the Party Whip.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip. 
 

159. Presentation of Petitions.  
 
 
The Chief Executive reported that the following petition had been received under 
Standing Order 36. 
 
Mrs Joy Hardy, Headteacher of Queniborough Primary School presented a petition 
signed by 687 local residents in the following terms:  
 

“We the undersigned ask the County Council to work with the residents of Queniborough 
to develop a plan for the village so that the children and residents can travel around the 
village safely and so reduce the need for vehicle journeys. Speeding, traffic, heavy 
lorries, the lack of pedestrian crossing are all issues in the emerging Neighbourhood Plan 
and we ask the County Council to join us in addressing these issues and improving the 
quality of life in our village. The petition is supported by Queniborough Parish Council, 
Queniborough Primary School, Transport Group of the Neighbourhood Plan.” 
 
Mr Poland, the Local Member reported that the petition called for a wider strategy across 
Queniborough in order to make it safer for pedestrians due to the nature of the roads 
which had made it as a rat-run for drivers to the A42. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the petition be received and that the Director of Environment and Transport carry 
out surveys at the locations indicated in order to present a report at the next meeting of 
the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
 

160. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence Draft Quality Standards and How 
Leicestershire County Council Might Address Them.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport which 
responded to a question put by Mr Hunt CC in relation to the National Institute for Health 
and Care Excellence draft quality standards and how the County Council may address 
them. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 8’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion were the following points: 
 

i) The consultation on the NICE draft quality standards had closed in early 
February and a response to the consultation outcome was awaited. 
 

ii) The Council would look at local area needs during the development process. 
While prioritisation for pedestrians might be appropriate in urban areas it was 
recognised that it may not always be the case in rural areas. Each 
scheme/area would be considered on a case by case basis. 
 

13



 
 

 

 

iii) The Government had offered no guidance regarding what distance would be 
reasonable to expect people to travel to work. According to Modeshift an adult 
could be expected to cycle up to five miles. For children, travelling to school the 
walking distance was set out in legislation 

 
iv) New Lubbesthorpe was adopted the Health in All Policy (HIAP) approach and 

was considered a beacon development. 
 

v) It was noted that a number of local authorities had benefited from ‘Devolution 
Deals’ such as Greater Manchester this had enabled the area to commit high 
levels of funding towards walking, cycling and public transport. The Lead 
Member for Environment and Transport felt that such a deal for Leicester and 
Leicestershire would enable them to be in a stronger position to drive forward 
active and sustainable travel and the physical activity agenda. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report on the how Leicestershire County Council may address the National 
Institute for Health and Care Excellence Draft Quality Standards be noted. 
 

161. Environment and Transport Performance Report to December 2018.  
 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Director of Environment and Transport 
and the Chief Executive, the purpose of which provided an update on departmental 
performance at the end of quarter 3 of 2018/19. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda 
Item 9’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Director introduced the report and clarified that the data for ‘CO2 emissions per 
capita in the local area’ had mistakenly included data from the railway and motorway. 
Once this data was removed the Council was rated in the 3rd quartile, rather than the 4th 
quartile. 
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

i) ‘Local bus passenger journeys originating in the authority area’ had improved 
in performance up to 13.43million and had reached its target. However the 
Council remained in the 4th quartile for the indicator. It was acknowledged that 
the County had limited powers to influence bus passenger journeys.  
 

ii) ‘The percentage of municipal waste sent to landfill’ had increased to 34.1%, 
missing the target of 30%. This was due to the loss of the mechanical 
biological treatment facility at Cotesbach after the market had failed. It was 
anticipated that the position would improve from 2020 when a share of 
Leicestershire’s waste would be sent to the incinerator facility in Coventry. The 
Council was also in the process of preparing a business case for other 
alternatives to landfill for an additional of 50,000tonnes of waste. 

 
iii) Funding that had been received from the Department for Transport for 

highways maintenance had to be spent by the County Council by the end of 
March. Cabinet had already authorised additional works to be undertaken in 
the year, to be funded from underspends. However, given the late notification, 
and limited capacity to deliver additional works in the year, the money that had 
been allocated by the Cabinet from underspends had instead been retained in 

14



 
 

 

 

reserves to be used to meet future pressures. Members noted that as a result 
of the Government funding most of the road retexturing schemes, which had 
arisen from the summer heatwave, had been completed. 

 
iv) It was acknowledged that the overall funding for highways maintenance was 

insufficient.  If the Council knew what funding it could be expect from 
Government for the next few years it would help the Council to plan for the 
medium term and this would ensure the money was spent effectively.  

 
v) It was felt the Council was performing well within its budget. The Department 

would in future refresh the targets in order to reflect indicators which the 
County Council had the power to impact upon. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the update on Departmental performance at the end of Quarter 3 of 2018/19 be 
noted. 
 

162. Resources and Waste Strategy.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport which 
gave an overview of the Government’s Resources and Waste Strategy for England 
(2018).  A copy of the report, marked “Agenda Item 11” is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion the following points were noted: 
 

i) The Government had planned to transpose existing EU targets into UK law in 
the event of Brexit. 
 

ii) Due to the twelve week consultations and the time it took for the County 
Council to respond to the many consultations arising from the Government’s 
Strategy it was agreed draft responses would be circulated to the Chairman 
and Spokespersons of the Committee three weeks before the consultation 
closes with a deadline for comments. The response and comments would then 
be discussed with the Lead Member and a final response sent by the Director 
of Environment and Transport. 

 
iii) It was recognised that some of the Government’s proposals would potentially 

reverse decisions made such as stopping food waste collection. The Council 
would keep an active watch on the situation. It was considered prudent that the 
review of the Joint Municipal Strategy should wait until the Government’s final 
position was known. 

 
iv) The impact of the decision taken by the Cabinet on recycling credits would be 

submitted to a future meeting. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the overview of Government’s Resources and Waste Strategy for England and the 
interdependency between it and the Leicestershire Municipal Waste Management 
Strategy be noted. 
 

15



 
 

 

 

163. Environment and Transport 2019/20 Highways Capital Programme and Highways and 
Transportation Work Programme.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport 
concerning the Environment and Transport 2019/20 Highways Capital Programme and 
Highways and Transportation Work Programme.  A copy of the report, marked “Agenda 
Item 11” is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

i) The Environment and Transport Capital Programme and the Highways and 
Transportation Work Programme had been developed within what continued to be 
challenging circumstances. The Department was required to make savings of 
£74m over the following  four years, with £13.3m savings to be made in 2019/20 
alone. The Capital Programme was funded from a variety of sources, including the 
Department for Transport Capital Maintenance Grant, the Local Growth Fund, 
other Government competitive funding schemes and the County Council’s capital 
programme. 

 
ii) The report to Cabinet would seek authorisation to allow delegation to the Director 

of Environment and Transport to enter into contracts for approved Highways 
Capital Programme schemes, in advance of all external funding required to deliver 
the scheme being in place, to allow early contractor involvement where needed. 
 

iii) Environmental assessments would be undertaken in regard to the relevant 
policies and schemes at the appropriate point during their development. If a 
scheme was considered to be undeliverable due to its adverse environmental 
impact the Council would comply. 
 

iv) There was a significant change to the cost of the Zouch Bridge Replacement as a 
result of compulsory purchase orders and other changes and as a result a report 
would be made to Cabinet. 
 

v) The County Council was currently engaging partners on the design of the Hinckley 
Area Project Zone 4, there would be a public consultation on the project later in the 
year. 
 

vi) The A46 Expressway was funded by Midlands Connect. The Council had put 
aside funding of under £50,000 in order to assist in any supporting work that the 
Council may need to provide. It was noted that the funding may not be needed. 
 

vii) The Director clarified that the A47 Desford Crosswords was in band D ‘funding 
below £50,000’, not Band B. This meant that  if a suitable funding stream became 
available work could be undertaken to produce a bid for the funding. 

 
RESOLVED 
 
That the comments of the Committee be forwarded to the Cabinet for consideration at its 
meeting on 29 March 2019, and that the Cabinet be advised that the Committee 
supported the Environment and Transport 2019/20 Highways Capital Programme and 
Highways and Transportation Work Programme.  
 

164. Road Casualty Reduction in Leicestershire.  

16



 
 

 

 

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport which 
provided an update on road casualty statistics and Leicestershire‘s approach to casualty 
reduction. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 12’ is filed with these minutes.  
 
The Committee welcomed Graham Crompton from Leicestershire Police to the meeting. 
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were made: 
 

i) A national system was in place to record the level of killed, seriously or slightly 
injured casualties, that data was collated by Leicestershire Police and analysed 
by the County Council. 
 

ii) The Medium Term Financial Strategy included £500,000 in 2018/19 for road 
safety schemes. 

 
iii) Cluster sites classified as ‘not progressed’ have been investigated but no trend 

or remedial works had been identified. 
 

iv) Concern was expressed that the cyclist ‘killed or seriously injured (KSI)’ 
statistics had increased from 16 to 29. The Department would look into the 
statistics and consider what could be done and report back in the next annual 
road casualty report. 

 
v) Whilst motorways were managed by Highways England the figures of KSI still 

had to be included in the total figures as it was a requirement of the  
Department for Transport’s Strategic Framework for Road Safety. 

 
vi) Members asked that the Department consider adding information onto the 

Driver Education Workshop website regarding Driver Training schemes 
delivered by the Institute of Advance Driving and the Royal Society of the 
Prevention of Accidents. Members felt this might encourage members of the 
public to attend refresher courses and driving standards would be improved. 

 
The Chairmen then invited Graham Compton to update the Committee. 
 
 
 Mr Compton stated that like the County Council the Police had diminishing resource 
having lost a quarter of staff since 2008. As a result the Police were unable to attend all 
road accidents. In 2017 the Police had revised their practice for responding to accidents 
to reflect pressures on staffing. The Force Control room would take the decision whether 
to dispatch a police officer to the scene of the accident and this was dependent on 
whether any injuries were reported, if there was congestion at the scene or if there was 
any allegation regarding a person at the scene. This meant officers were not deployed to 
slight injuries and instead could respond to higher priority crime. 
 
Following an internal audit of the process Leicestershire Police believed that due to the 
new process there had been a 17% fall the reporting of accidents, whereas a fall of 9% 
was attributable to the natural progression of the reduction of accidents. 
 
Since mid-January 2019 on-line reporting of accidents had been introduced by the Force. 
Following its introduction 225 accidents had been reported, 33 of which were injury 

17



 
 

 

 

accidents which may have otherwise been missed. The Force would consider this 
additional input in the data to be produced to avoid any potential for duplication. 
 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the update provided on road casualties in Leicestershire and Leicestershire’s 
approach to casualty reduction be noted. 
 
 

165. Date of next meeting.  
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on 6th June at 2.00pm. 
 
 

Times Not Specified CHAIRMAN 
07 March 2019 

 

18



   

  
 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE – 6 June 2019 

 
RESPONSE TO PETITION: REQUEST FOR THE SPEED REDUCTION 

OF THE B581 STATION ROAD 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise on the outcome of investigations following 

the receipt of a petition requesting that the speed limit on the B581 between 
Elmesthorpe and Stoney Stanton be reduced.  

 
Background 
 
2. A fatal accident occurred on 7 January 2019 on Station Road, on a bend 

approximately 500m south east of the bridge over the M69. Leicestershire Police 
investigations into the incident are ongoing.  

 
3. The petition, received by the County Council on 11 March 2019 contained 1457 

signatures. The terms of the petition are:- 
 

“We, the undersigned, are concerned residents who urge Leicestershire County 
Council to reduce the speed limit of the B581 in Elmsthorpe to 30mph and reduce 
the national speed limit section of the road to a Minimum of 30mph or a 
Maximum 40mph.” 
 

4. The B581 Station Road runs between the junction of the A47 (Earl Shilton by 
pass) through Elmesthorpe, over the M69 motorway to the built up area of 
Stoney Stanton and the junction of New Road and Hinckley Road.  

 
5. The current speed limit from the A47 junction through Elmesthorpe is 40 mph. 

This changes to the national speed limit (60 mph) just west of the bridge over the 
M69 and continues to the built up area of Stoney Stanton, where at a point just 
North West of the junction with Godfrey Close the 30 mph speed limit applicable 
in Stoney Stanton commences.  

 
Data - Road Accidents and vehicle speed 
 

Accidents 
 
6. The petition states that since the year 2000, there has been a total of 51 

recorded injury accidents on this stretch of the B581. This covers a two mile 
length of the B581 and equates to approximately three accidents annually. The 
most recent five year period shows a total of 12 recorded accidents. The rate 
therefore has reduced to 2.4 annually. See figure 1. 

19 Agenda Item 10



   

 
 

Figure 1 - accident data 
 

7. Analysis of the accident data has been carried out and is summarised below:- 
 

 Nine of the twelve recorded occurred within the 40 mph section in and 
around Elmesthorpe; 

 two of the collisions were specifically identified by the police attending the 
scene as ‘exceeding the speed limit’ to be a contributory factor; 

 four collisions involved loss of control; and, 

 only two previous slight injury collisions have occurred in the latest five year 
period in the vicinity of the bend, where the recent fatality occurred, one of 
which involved loss of control. 

 
8. In terms of the work of the County Council at cluster sites, whilst accepting that 

one accident is too many, the criteria for intervention is where there have been 
seven or more recorded injury accidents at one site (within a 50m radius) over a 
five year period, as opposed to over an extended length. The criteria for this was 
noted by the Environment and Transport Overview Scrutiny Committee on 12 
September 2016. 

 
9. Using a nationally utilised Department for Transport (DfT) cost benefit analysis 

method (COBA) the predicted collision rate is 2.67 per annum, but this 
calculation is based upon a link length and does not take into account any 
adjoining junctions, which would significantly increase this figure. A more 
accurate indicator would be the national average collision rate for rural roads, 
based on DfT Reported Road Casualties Great Britain 2017 (Table: RAS 10002). 

20

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/ras10-reported-road-accidents


   

This shows that on rural ‘B’ roads the rate is 248 per billion vehicle kilometres 
travelled, the actual rate on this section of the B581 is 130 per billion vehicle 
kilometres, approximately 47% below the national average number of injury 
collisions for this type of road. 
 

10. With regards to the fatal incident in January 2019, as this is still subject to 
investigation by Leicestershire Police, the County Council is unable to comment 
at the present time. An interim date of 4 June 2019 has been set for the Inquest 
into the incident. Leicestershire County Council will consider the findings of the 
Coroner following the Inquest. 
 

Speeds 
 
11. Updated speed data was taken in March 2019 either side of the bend between 

the M69 Bridge and the 30 mph limit in Stoney Stanton (adjacent to the Acacia 
property). This showed that two way speeds on the north western side of the 
bend were an average of 44.6 mph with the 85th percentile speed (the speed at 
which 85% of drivers are travelling at or below) of 50.0 mph. The survey on the 
south eastern side of the bend showed average and 85th percentile speeds of 
44.9 mph and 50.3 mph respectively. This shows that a very high proportion of 
drivers approach the bend at speeds below the speed limit.  
 

12. Additionally, the latest speeds available for Elmesthorpe were taken in two 
locations. In January 2018 these were taken near the junction with The 
Roundhills and showed average speeds of 34.8 mph and an 85th percentile 
speed of 40.1 mph. There was also a survey undertaken in April 2018 near the 
junction with Wilkinson’s Lane that showed similar speed data with an average 
speed of 36.2 mph and an 85th percentile speed of 40.1 mph. Whilst, 
unfortunately, some drivers still exceed the speed limit the compliance along the 
stretch of the B581 in Elmesthorpe is generally good.  

 

Assessment 
 
13. Bearing in mind the large number of requests the Council receives on an annual 

basis for highway improvements current practice is to consider essential safety 
works only.  The assessment process is data led and includes an evidence 
based assessment with set criteria focussing on the number of recorded injury 
accidents, along with any records of excessive speed. Additionally, based on the 
data available we also have to be sure that whatever changes we make will 
actually make a difference.  
 

14. With regards to its road safety priorities, taking into account the data relating to 
the B581, noted in paragraphs 7, 8 and 9 above, the County Council is unable to 
justify any investment in highways measures on a casualty reduction basis at the 
present time.  

 
Speed Limit guidance  
 
15. The Council follows national speed limit guidance issued by the Department for 

Transport (DfT) with regard to following the setting of local speed limits. The 
speed limit in place should largely be self-enforcing and is based on the extent of 
roadside development, the amount of residential properties and of pedestrian 

21



   

activity.  All speed limit proposals also have to be consulted on with 
Leicestershire Police, who are responsible for the enforcement of speed limits. 
  

16. The section of the B581 from the A47 junction to just west of the M69 bridge is 
set at 40 mph as properties are not continuous on both sides of the road and are 
often set back from the road side and therefore this speed limit conforms to 
current speed limit guidance. The section of the B581 between Elmesthorpe and 
Stoney Stanton is largely rural with very little development on either side and 
therefore current guidance suggests that this is correctly set at national speed 
limit. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
17. The estimated cost of preparing this report, including undertaking the surveys is 

£1,000. 
 
Conclusion 
 
18. Having considered the accident and speed data collected and considering the 

national guidance that the Council follows when setting or amending speed limits, 
it is unable to agree to a reduction in the current speed limits on the B581 Station 
Road between Elmesthorpe and Stoney Stanton.  
 

19. Based on the analysis of the data, unfortunately there are no locations on this 
length of the B581 that meets the current criteria for County Council intervention 
of a proven accident record at a cluster site. Additionally, the accident rate for this 
part of the B581 route is lower than the national average accident rate for this 
type of road. 
 

20. The Council can advise that an initial inquest into the fatal incident on 7 January 
2019 is to be held on 4 June 2019 and that it will consider the findings of the 
Coroner’s report.   
 

21. The Lead Petitioner will be sent a copy of the report. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
22. None. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Ian Vears – Assistant Director, Environment and Transport   
Tel. (0116) 305 7966 
Email: Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
23. There are no specific equal opportunities implications to note as part of this 

report. 
 
 
 
 

22

mailto:Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk


   

Background Papers 
 
12 September 2016 - Environment and Transportation Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission Report – Road Casualty Reduction in Leicestershire and Future 
Approach to Casualty Reduction: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1044&MId=4781&Ver=4  
 
Department of Transport Reported road accidents (RAS10) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/ras10-reported-road-accidents 
 

23

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1044&MId=4781&Ver=4
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/ras10-reported-road-accidents


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE – 6 June 2019 

 
RESPONSE TO PETITION: REQUESTING ACTION ON ROAD SAFETY 

GROUNDS COVERING ROADS IN QUENIBOROUGH 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 
 
Purpose of Response  
 
1. To report on the outcome of investigations following the presentation of a petition 

requesting road safety improvements in Queniborough. 
 
The Petition 
 
2. The petition contained 687 signatures and was presented to Scrutiny on 7 March 2019. 
 

The petition made the request as follows:-   
 

‘We the undersigned, ask the County Council to work with the residents of 
Queniborough to develop a plan for the village so that children and residents can travel 
around the village safely and so reduce the need for vehicle journeys. Speeding traffic, 
heavy lorries, the lack of pedestrian crossings are all issues in the emerging 
Neighbourhood Plan and we ask the County Council to join us in addressing these 
issues and improving the quality of life in our village’ 

 
Background  
 
3. Neighbourhood Plans should be focused on the mitigation required within the Planning 

Arena for developments, growth in housing.  Measures must also directly mitigate the 
impact of the development e.g. they should ensure that the development does not 
make the existing highway conditions any worse if considered to have a severe 
residual impact. They cannot unfortunately be used to address existing problems.  

 
4. Queniborough is situated to the north of Syston and is where the road environment 

becomes ‘more residential’ in character when travelling into Leicester. There are two 
main roads into Queniborough and the village centre is situated at the crossroads of 
these roads. The roads in question are Syston Road/ Queniborough Road and Barkby 
Road/ Rearsby Road. Just to the north of Queniborough is the A607; see figure 1 
below. 

 
5. The village is street lit subject to part night lighting and the roads running through it 

form part of the classified road network which are well maintained. The width of the 
road is restricted in places by parking which occurs along most of the main routes 
through the village and there are a couple of sharp bends that, along with the parking, 
help to suppress vehicle speeds, most notably on Main Street, to the south-east of 
Queniborough Road. 

 

25 Agenda Item 11



 
     Location plan - figure 1

26



Speed limits 
 
6. The Council follows national speed limit guidance issued by the Department for 

Transport (DfT) with regard to following the setting of local speed limits. The speed limit 
in place should largely be self-enforcing and is based on the extent of roadside 
development, the amount of residential properties and of pedestrian activity.  All speed 
limit proposals also have to be consulted on with Leicestershire Police, who are 
responsible for the enforcement of speed limits. 

 
7. The speed limits through the village itself are 30mph. On the approaches on both 

Barkby Road from the south and Croxton Road from the south-east, beyond 
Queniborough Road and Main Street there is a 40mph buffer speed limit before 
reaching the 30mph speed limit. On Melton Road where it bypasses the centre of 
Queniborough there is a 40mph speed limit. Please see figure 2 below. 

 
 

 
 
     Speed limits - figure 2 
 
Traffic calming 
 
8. The roads that run through Queniborough are traffic calmed with speed cushions on 

Syston Road and Rearsby Road.   
 

9. There are speed tables on Barkby Road close to the centre of village. There is a 
vehicle activated sign (VAS) warning of the traffic calming.  The VAS displays a humps 
warning triangle together with ‘SLOW DOWN’ text. 

 
10. On Main Street, south-east of Queniborough Road, there is a raised speed table 

outside the school and the carriageway width has been reduced to assist pedestrians 
crossing the road.  

 
 
Crossing facilities 
 

30mph speed limit by street lighting 
All other roads on approach to village have 40mph 
speed limit  

Barkby Road 

Melton Road 

Syston Road 
Queniborough Road 

Rearsby Road 

Main Street 

Croxton Road 

27



11. There is a zebra crossing on Rearsby Road approximately 60m from the cross roads in 
the centre of Queniborough and on Main Street outside the school there is a speed 
table and pinch point that is intended to facilitate pedestrians crossing outside the 
school. 

 
School safety  
 
12. There is an advisory school 20mph zone outside the school along with flashing amber 

lights. These operate at school opening and closing times and at these times it is 
expected that motorists keep to the advisory speed limit of 20mph. The zone starts at 
the Main Street/ Queniborough Road service road junction and finishes at Coppice 
Lane. There is a mandatory school Keep Clear marking outside the school. 
 

13. The school also benefits from being a recognised location for a School Crossing Patrol. 
 
Traffic accidents 
 
14. Figure 3 below shows all personal injury accident data recorded by the Police in the 

village of Queniborough in the last five years to the end of 2018. 
 

15. There have been two slight injury collisions at the crossroads in the centre of 
Queniborough:- 

 

 Where a driver failed to give way at Barkby Road and hit a vehicle travelling east 
through the junction; and, 

 where a driver turning right out of Rearsby Road hit a vehicle travelling east 
through the junction. 

 
16. There have been five slight injury collisions recorded at the Melton Road, Syston Road 

junction:- 
 

 Three involved rear end shunts with vehicles waiting to turn right into Syston 
Road; and, 

 two involved vehicles turning right out of Syston Road in collision with vehicles 
on Melton Road. 

 
17. There is one other accident on Queniborough Road but no details of this incident were 

received by the Police. 
 

 

28



 
     Accident map- figure 3 
 
Weight Restrictions 
 
18. The whole of Queniborough is covered by a 7.5 tonnes weight restriction excluding the 

A607 and Melton Road which are unrestricted roads as shown in figure 4. 
 
 

 
     Weight restrictions- Figure 4 
Assessment 
 
Speed Readings 

Traffic accidents in the last 5 
years 

 = Serious 
 
 = Slight 

7.5 tonne weight restricted roads  

29



 
19. Speed readings were taken by the parish using data collected by their mobile VAS. 

This was mounted at six locations on various approach roads into Queniborough. The 
locations and their speeds are detailed in Figure 5 and Appendix A.   

 
20. As the mobile VAS were not calibrated each time they were deployed, in order to verify 

the data, the County Council arranged for speed monitoring devices to be laid at the 
same, or similar, locations to those which the parish used as shown on Figure 5 below. 
 

 
LCC Speed Survey Locations - Figure 5 

 
21. The speeds recorded are shown in table 1 below. The speeds shown are for each 

individual location and are broken down into the speeds for each direction and a 
combination of both. The speeds given are the average speed and the 85th percentile 
speed; this is the speed at which 85% of the vehicles are travelling at or below. 
 

Location      Site/ speed  limit Direction

Mean 85th Mean 85th

A Rearsby Road- 30mph 21.8 28 SE bound 22 28.8

NW bound 21.6 27.3

B Croxton Road- 40mph 45 52 east bound 45.6 52.6

close to the transition point with NSL west bound 44.5 51.1

C Barkby Road- 30mph 30.6 35.6 SW bound 30.9 35.7

NE bound 30.3 35.3

D Melton Road 33.5 38.4 SW bound 32.7 37.3

near Marsden Ave-40mph NE bound 34.3 39.2

E Melton Road 34.6 40.5 SW bound 34.7 40.7

north of Syston Rd- 40mph NE bound 34.6 40.5

F Queniborough Rd- 30mph 24.3 29 SE bound 25.4 29.9

 NW bound    23.3 28

Combined (mph) Breakdown (mph)

 
Table 1 

 
22. The method deployed in how the Council have recorded the speeds is different to that 

of the parish and it is therefore difficult to carry out a direct comparison of the two. 
 

E 

D 

C 

A 

F 

B 

30



23. However using the mean speeds and 85th percentile speeds is a recognised method to 
assess speeds from location to location. In its readings the parish quotes the extremes 
of the speeds recorded, as on all roads there will be a range of speeds with some 
drivers at the top end who regardless of what measures are put in place will still drive at 
an excessive speed inconsiderate of other road users. This driver behaviour is very 
difficult to influence. 

 
24. With the exception of Location B the data collected overall shows a generally good 

compliance with the posted speed limit on these lengths of roads and shows the speed 
of the vehicles are below the Association of Chief Police Officers (ACPO) threshold at 
which the Police would consider enforcement of the speed limit.   

 
25. However, the speeds recorded at location B on Croxton Road which are within the 

40mph buffer zone are of concern. These are higher than we would like for a 40mph 
limit.  Whilst we do not condone the breaking of any speed limit, speed limits should be 
self-enforcing and easily recognised, with fields either side of the road and no built up 
environment it is difficult for motorists to understand and adhere to this speed limit. 

 
Weight restriction 
 
26. Although Queniborough is weight restricted vehicles above 7.5 tonnes can legitimately 

enter the zone to load/ unload or for access.  Whilst it is not condoned it is recognised 
that there will inevitably be some motorists that would contravene the weight 
restrictions.   
 

27. Weight Restrictions are notoriously difficult to enforce as the Police need to prove that 
the vehicle has driven straight through the weight restriction without loading/ unloading 
or accessing any properties. 

 
28. It is worth noting that weight restrictions are zonal and thus whilst vehicles may not be 

delivering to Queniborough they may have legitimately entered the zone from 
neighbouring areas. 

 
29. The weekly classified traffic count data is shown in table 2 below. The surveys were 

undertaken for a full seven day period in February 2019. The traffic data shown are for 
each individual location for the week and are broken down into the total traffic and HGV 
traffic for each direction. They show the total number of vehicles for the seven day 
period for each category. Appendix B shows the classification of vehicles used. Weekly 
data was used on this occasion to illustrate traffic volumes in Queniborough for the 
whole survey period, rather than on a daily basis where some classifications of vehicles 
are very low.    
 

 
Table 2 

31



 
30. The results of this showed that there were some HGV’s going through Queniborough. 

The data over a period of a week for Queniborough Road showed there were 77 of the 
larger rigid 4-axle lorries which could potentially be quarry lorries carrying aggregate to 
a new development and this equates to approximately 10 a day. There were 111 
articulated lorries recorded. 

 
31. The HGV’s using Barkby Road are less in number with 41 4-axle rigid lorries being 

recorded and 59 articulated vehicles. 
 
32. The Police are the authority that enforce weight restrictions. They have been contacted 

about HGV’s driving through Queniborough in the past and thus are aware that there 
are possible contraventions.  

 
33. Local officers have given periodic attention commensurate with their other duties 

regarding the HGV complaint. Their advice is for residents to provide them with details 
of the vehicles so they can look into contraventions. However it is understood they are 
yet to receive any details. 
 

34. We have ascertained that there are no large developments that may necessitate a 
large number of HGV movements through Queniborough and there are no 
developments of a significant size in the area.  

 
Crossing Requests 
 
35. It has long been accepted national practice to assess the justification for a pedestrian 

crossing using a calculation involving both pedestrian and vehicle flows. This is known 
as ‘PV²’ and effectively evaluates the potential for conflict between vehicles and 
pedestrians.  In 1995 with the introduction of Local Transport Note (LTN) 1/95 – 
“Assessment of Pedestrian Crossings”  
(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/330269/l
tn-1-95_Assessment-Crossings.pdf ) replaced the previous Advice Note TA10/80 
"Design Considerations for Pelican and Zebra Crossings. However, most Local 
Authorities continued to use a modified version of PV² formula including additional 
enhanced criteria taking into consideration the types of pedestrians, the different types 
of vehicles, the vulnerability of pedestrians plus community links etc. as detailed in LTN 
1/95, in Leicestershire this is the Crossing Justification Value (CJV). 
 

36. For the provision of any type of pedestrian crossing facility, we would look for the 
following thresholds, for a ‘dropped’ crossing we would be looking at a score of 
between 0.4-0.7, for a zebra crossing we would be looking at 0.7-0.9 and for a 
controlled puffin crossing we would be looking at 0.9 and above. 

 
37. We have carried out crossing assessments at Barkby Road at its junction with 

Queniborough Road and on Queniborough Road outside the school. 
 

The results were:- 
 

 PV2 CJV 

Barkby Road 0.052 0.052 

Queniborough Road 0.25 0.437 

Rearsby Road 0.24 0.357 

 
38. PV2 is a calculation made using pedestrian movements (P) and traffic flows (V). The 

result of the PV2 calculation is used to decide if a crossing is appropriate, if this is below 
0.4 then it would not meet the criteria for any type of crossing. 

32

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/330269/ltn-1-95_Assessment-Crossings.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/330269/ltn-1-95_Assessment-Crossings.pdf


 
39. From these results Queniborough Road opposite the school would qualify for an 

uncontrolled crossing and at this location there is a narrowing and a raised hump to 
assist with crossing. From our assessment we would not consider any further measures 
than this. 

 
40. There is an existing zebra crossing on Rearsby Road.  This is an established crossing 

that has been in situ for a number of years.  Whilst using the updated traffic data it 
would not meet the criteria for a controlled crossing, we would not at this time look to 
remove it. 

 
41. Taking into account the traffic calming on Rearsby Road and the proximity of the 

crossing to the crossroads, traffic speeds are low and there are no recorded reports 
received by the Council of drivers not stopping at the crossing to let people cross.  

 
42. Queueing across the crossing during peak times will be down to poor driving behaviour 

rather than the road layout. It is an offense to stop on a zebra crossing and this is 
something that the Police can enforce. 

 
Accidents 
 
43. There are relatively few recorded injury accidents in Queniborough itself. Most of these 

seem to be concentrated at the junction of Melton Road and Syston Road; however 
these appear to be driver error and drivers not showing attention with three rear end 
shunts. The level of accidents at this junction would not meet the threshold for it to be 
looked at as an accident cluster site; the current threshold is seven recorded injury 
accidents within a five year period. 

44. There have been two injury accidents in the centre of Queniborough which appear to 
be drivers misjudging the speed of approaching traffic or not looking properly before 
pulling out. Traffic speeds will be low due to the traffic calming and at a busy junction 
like this two injury accidents is relatively low.  

 
Congestion 

 
45. Concerning the queueing on Rearsby Road and Barkby Road, with an increase in 

traffic on the road network in general this does lead to some congestion at peak times 
at certain locations.  Under the current budgetary constraints, however, we need to 
concentrate our resources on areas where there is severe congestion and where there 
is concern due to reportable accidents. This location would not be one of these. 
 

School traffic issues 
 

46. For a controlled crossing to be installed there needs to be a significant need for people 
to cross the road throughout the day, the situation that the school describes is 
something that many schools experience at school times. 
 

47. The raised table outside the school is not intended as a formal pedestrian crossing at 
which drivers are expected to give way.  Although some drivers will be courteous and 
allow pedestrians to cross there is no requirement for them to do so. 
 

48. If the school believes that this behaviour is leading to an expectation on behalf of   
pedestrians we could look at removing the speed table.  However this would have its   
own issues and would most likely to lead to an increase in speed and objections from 
other parties such as the Parish. 

 
Summary 

33



 
49. From our investigations there does not appear to be significant traffic issues that need 

to be addressed in the village of Queniborough. 
 
50. Traffic speeds are generally within the range expected for a 30mph speed limit which 

suggests that the traffic calming is keeping speeds down.  
 

51. The number of recorded injury accidents in the centre of Queniborough is low, which 
shows the crossroads in the centre of Queniborough appears to operate well despite 
the potential conflicts that can occur when drivers need to give way to opposing traffic. 

 
52. For the location on Barkby Road, surveys have shown that there is not a demand for a 

crossing to be installed. Traffic flows are such that pedestrians will not have to wait for 
an extended period of time to cross the road. 

 
53. There are many roads across the county where from time to time people would benefit 

with assistance to cross, however we would only consider measures where there is a 
significant need throughout the day. 

 
54. Queniborough is covered by a 7.5 tonnes weight restriction and if residents are aware 

of any vehicles that contravene this restriction they can send details to the Police with 
company names, registrations and times so it can be investigated and the necessary 
enforcement action taken. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
55. The estimated cost of preparing this report, including undertaking the surveys is 

£3,000. 
 
Conclusion 
 
56. In the past, the village of Queniborough has been traffic calmed with speed cushions 

on the main routes into the centre of the village. Compared to similar villages in the 
county Queniborough has a relatively high provision of traffic calming. Children getting 
to school and the associated parking are no worse or better than for other schools and 
as such does not necessitate further measures. 

 
57. Following our assessment of traffic in Queniborough, we do not consider there to be 

significant traffic issues and unfortunately data concludes that it does not meet our 
criteria for us to fund further measures. 

 
58. Whilst the County Council would not look to facilitate any additional measures, if third 

party funding was available then the County Council would be happy to support 
exploring the provision of further initiatives the community may want to see 
implemented.  Appendix C contains the third party funding guidance. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
59. None. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Fiona Blockley – Team Manager, Traffic & Signals 
Tel:  (0116) 305 0932 
Email: Fiona.Blockley@leics.gov.uk  
  

34

mailto:Fiona.Blockley@leics.gov.uk


Lee Measures – Senior Technician, Traffic & Signals 
Tel:  (0116) 305 2763 
Email: Lee.Measures@leics.gov.uk 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
60. There are no specific equal opportunities implications to note as part of this report. 
 
Background Papers 
 
61. None. 
 
Appendices 
Appendix A – PC Vehicle Activated Sign Report Jan19   
Appendix B – Simplified Guide to Lorry Types and Weights 
Appendix C – Third Party Funding Guidance – Generic  

35

mailto:Lee.Measures@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Vehicle Activated Sign. Report on the use in the village from August to December 2018. 

This report gives a summary of the data collected by the VAS during this four-month period. The 

locations were mostly chosen by the Traffic Group of the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group.  

The dates given are the days that data was collected on. The sign may have been up longer but 

the batteries had run out.  

Barkby Road towards Village. 

Data date: 30th August to 8th September 2018 (9 days) 

Total vehicles movements: 33,762 – c 3,751 per day 

Total up to and including the speed limit of 40mph: 7413 – 21.9%  

Total 47mph and above - the Speed watch letter speed: 12,466 – 36.9%  

50-59 mph: 6,462 – 19.1%  

60-69 mph: 788 – 2.3% 

over 70: 130 –  0.38%  

Six vehicles were recorded at 90mph or over, all on 4th September at 7:23; 16:38; 13:16. 

 

South Croxton Road towards the village. 

Data date: 11th October to 24th October (13 days) 

Total vehicles movements: 14,244 – c 1,095 per day 

Total up to and including the speed limit of 40mph: 2,966 – 20.8%  

Total 47mph and above - the Speed watch letter speed: 6,055 – 42.5%  

50-59 mph: 3,310 – 23.2%  

60-69 mph: 407 – 2.8% 

over 70: 60 – 0.4%  

The highest speed was 100mph at 18:07 on 19th October.  

 

Rearsby Road towards village 

Data date: 8th to 19th November. (11 days) 

Total vehicle movements: 30,400 – c 2,763 per day 

Total up to and including the speed limit of 30 mph: 23,631 – 77.7%  

Total 36mph and above - the Speed watch letter speed: 1,401 – 4.6%  

40-49 mph: 333 – 0.01%  

over 50: 10  

The highest speed was 54mph at 12:33 on 18th November 

 

Main Street. Lamp post no. 17 

Monitoring vehicles coming into the village. The post is between Peggs Lane and School Lane.  

Data date: 13th to 26th September (13 days) 

Total vehicle movements: 19877 – 1,529 per day 

Total up to and including the speed limit of 30mph: 15753 – 79% 

Total 36mph and above - the Speed watch letter speed: 792 – 3.9% with a seven vehicles over 

50mph and a top speed of 62mph at 15:59 on 15th September.  

 

Melton Road (corner of Marsden Avenue) to village 

Data date: 27th September to 7th October (10 days) 

37

HHUDSON
Text Box
APPENDIX A



Total vehicles movements: 26,522 – c 2,652 per day 

Total up to and including the speed limit of 40mph: 23,496 – 88.6%  

Total 47mph and above - the Speed watch letter speed: 753 – 2.8%  

50-59 mph: 365 – 1.3%  

60-69 mph: 40  

The highest speed was 69 mph at 5:24 on 1st.  October.  

 

Melton Road (corner of Syston Road) to village from Melton 

Data date: 25th October to 30th October (4 days) 

Total vehicles movements: 15,005 – c 3,751 per day 

Total up to and including the speed limit of 40mph: 8,539 – 56.8%  

Total 47mph and above - the Speed watch letter speed: 1,381 – 9.2%  

50-59 mph: 585 – 3.9%  

60-69 mph: 34  

The highest speed was 69 mph at 21:20 on 30th.  October.  

 

Melton Road (corner of Syston Road) to village from Syston 

Data date: 1st November to 7th November (6 days) 

Total vehicles movements: 17,007 – c 2,834 per day 

Total up to and including the speed limit of 40mph: 13,638 – 80.2%  

Total 47mph and above - the Speed watch letter speed: 845 – 4.9%  

50-59 mph: 376 – 2.2%  

60-69 mph: 32  

The highest speed was 69 mph at 20:30 on 4th November.  

 

Comparison with previous data. 

The Council now has data going back to 2011. There are gaps in 2013 when data capture proved 

unreliable. Although a more thorough analysis could be carried out it appears that little has 

changed over this period and that the picture of speeding through the village remains the same.  

 

Philip Laughton 

Clerk 

January 2019  

 

  

 

38



* If the driving axle, if it is not a steering
axle, has twin tyres and road friendly
suspension, or each driving axle is fitted
with twin tyres and the maximum weight
for each axle does not exceed 8.55
tonnes.

** Distance between the rear axle of the
motor vehicle and the front axle of the
trailer is not less than 3 metres.

*** If the vehicle is being used for combined
transport.

(a) 5 axles or more artic and the 5 axles or
more drawbar could alternatively have a
3 axle motor vehicle and a 2 axle trailer.

(b) Conditions:
- each vehicle must have at least 3 axles.
- drive axle has twin tyre and road

friendly suspension and maximum of
10.5 tonnes, or each driving axle is
fitted with twin tyres and has a
maximum of 8.5 tonnes

- trailer has road friendly suspension

(c) Conditions for operation on 5 axles:

- must have 3 axles on tractor unit

- single container 40ft in length
conforming to standards laid down by
the International Standards
Organisation being carried only

- vehicle being used for international
journey.

(d) Powered by a low pollution engine.

HGU940442A

3.5

Over 3.5
7.5

Over 7.5
18

25
26*

26

30
32*

36
38*

30
36**

40

40**

41*

41*
and **

44*
and ***

44*,**
and ***
44*,**

and ***

44*

44*
and **

39

HHUDSON_1
Text Box
APPENDIX B



OVERLOADING OF GOODS VEHICLES
Why does overloading matter so much?

1. ROAD SAFETY. Lorries which are loaded beyond their design weight are less able to stop
quickly in an emergency and the steering of the vehicle can be affected.

2. ROAD WEAR AND TEAR. It is estimated that the overloading of good vehicles costs the
community over £50M a year through additional wear and tear to roads and bridges. Heavy
axles cause proportionately far more wear and tear, and overloading drive axles (legal limit 11.5
tonnes) are the biggest single cause of excessive wear and tear on roads.

3. COMPETITION. Gross overloading is unfair to the majority of law-abiding operators who
accept the constraints of the plated weight limits set by the law. An operator who persistently
overloads a lorry can earn additional profits amounting to thousands of pounds per annum.

SOME TECHNICAL TERMS EXPLAINED
AXLE WEIGHT : The total weight transmitted to the road by all the wheels on

one axle.
GROSS VEHICLE WEIGHT : The weight of a vehicle and its load.
TRAIN WEIGHT : The weight of a vehicle, a trailer and its load.
PLATED WEIGHT : Either the design weight limit given on a manufacturer’s plate

or the legal weight limit given on the Department’s plate.
TRAILER : Any vehicle drawn by a motor vehicle.
DRAW-BAR TRAILER : A trailer pulled by a rigid vehicle.
SEMI-TRAILER : A trailer forming part of an articulated vehicle.
ARTICULATED VEHICLE : A tractor unit with a semi-trailer attached where part of the load

is borne by the drawing vehicle.

OVERLOADING
Goods vehicles are subject to U.K. weight limits. The weight limits are given on the manufacturer’s
plate or the Department’s plate on each vehicle. They are determined by the technical specification
of the vehicle and the need to protect U.K. roads and bridges from excessive wear and tear. Vehicles
over 41 tonnes operate under special arrangements. 44 tonnes is allowed for combined (road to rail)
transport.

A vehicle is overloaded if it exceeds the plated weight limits. A vehicle could be overloaded on all
its axles, on its gross weight and on its train weight. Each of these would be separate offences, e.g.
a 3 axle articulated which exceeded the plated weights on the 1st axle, 2nd axle and gross weight
would make both the vehicle operator and driver liable to three separate offences.

A vehicle or vehicle combination from 1 January 1999 can operate under either The Authorised
Weight Regulations 1998 or The Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations (as amended).

This leaflet has been produced by the Department for Transport, at the request of the Magistrate’s
Association to give guidance to Magistrates in dealing with cases on overloading. It is not intended
to be a full authoritative statement of the law.

Department for Transport
OCTOBER 2003

40



Environment and Transport Department 

Guidelines for Third Party Funding of Highways Schemes 

Purpose of Guidelines 

This guidance note sets out the process involved to develop and deliver a third party funded 
highway scheme. 

Background 

Leicestershire County Council allows proposed highway improvements to be funded by a 
third party provided they are safe and align with current regulations, guidance or good 
practice.  All associated costs must be provided by the third party, from initial concept 
designs through to ongoing maintenance/insurance costs. 
On receipt of a request for a highway improvement the proposal is assessed to check: 
 
1. if it is appropriate for the highway (i.e. does it align with current regulations, guidance or 

good practice).  If it does not, the scheme will not be supported by LCC and approvals 
will not be given for further development, regardless of whether third party funding is 
available; or 

2. if the scheme meets our criteria for funding.  If this is the case it will be added to a priority 
list to be funded by LCC when resources become available. 

 
The funding assessment ensures that the County Council’s resources are focused on 
locations that present the highest risk.   The assessment is evidence based and uses a 
number of criteria dependent on the nature of the proposal and its location, including number 
of reported accidents, speed limits, average speeds, type of road and impact on emergency 
vehicles. 

 
If the improvement does not meet our criteria for funding but is allowable on the highway, the 
option is available for the requestor to provide/seek third party funding to enable the 
proposal to be developed further, designed and built. 
 
If a parish/town council or other community group has multiple, complex and ongoing issues 
the County Member can request a “one off” meeting to seek to address the situation and 
establish clarity around the way forward.  The meeting will be held at County Hall and should 
be used where there are options available for discussion.  The meeting should be singular 
and not repeatable and nor should it be used as a forum to challenge officer decisions that 
have already been communicated to the council/group. 

 
Process for third party funded schemes 
 
Improvements typically go through 4 phases of implementation.  All of these phases must be 
funded by the third party.  All phases can be provided by LCC, dependent on staff availability 
or be commissioned from another supplier. 
 
• Phase 1, initial scoping stage,  
• Phase 2, to establish detailed design and construction method, costs and timeframes 
• Phase 3, consultation, approvals, permissions, licenses and legal requirements 
• Phase 4, delivery / construction / maintenance 

41

HHUDSON_2
Text Box
APPENDIX C



Environment and Transport Department 

 
Process Flow Chart 
 

42



Environment and Transport Department 

Phase 1 - Scoping 
 
In order to determine all the options available and decide on the most appropriate way 
forward the third party should commission either their own consultant or LCC to undertake a 
scoping exercise.  At the end of phase 1 there should be a clear understanding of: 
 
• what the improvement will be and how it will be implemented, including concept design 

illustrations; 
• a quote for the design costs; 
• a high level indication of implementation and ongoing maintenance costs; and 
• an understanding of the next steps (including whether planning permission, what 

licences will be needed and approval process). 
 
It is essential to fully understand the different elements of the whole process at the stage in 
order for there to be no unexpected delays and to be able to correctly plan phase3 
“Consultation and Approvals”. 
 
 LCC can provide this phase for an initial fee of £500 dependent on staff availability.   
 
The third party must commission this work either from LCC or their own consultant.  If the 
work is to be undertaken by LCC the following should be provided via email to 
CSCparishes@leics.gov.uk  along with a confirmation of intent to pay for the improvement 
via third party funds: 
 
• The type of scheme (traffic calming / parking restrictions / speed limit ) 
• Details of the scheme (type of traffic calming / type of parking restriction / speed limit) 
• Location of the scheme (road name and location) 
 
If LCC are not undertaking the work the third party must identify and commission an 
alternative supplier.  Phases 1 and 2 could be commissioned together. 
 
Phase 2 - Design 
 
As part of this phase either LCC or the third party consultant will design the improvements 
(scheme) ensuring that all aspects of the proposed implementation/construction have been 
considered.  The designs will need to be in an appropriate format and level of detail to be 
able to satisfy any planning or licence requirements.   
 
The costs of design work, if carried out by LCC, will vary dependent on the nature of the 
improvement/change required. 
 
Phase 3 - Consultation and Approvals 
 
Prior to any implementation if a third party is installing/changing the highway network in any 
way,  a variety of permissions, licences, legal agreements/restrictions orders need to be put 
in place.  In some cases this will include consultation with both the public and emergency 
services. 

43



Environment and Transport Department 

 
The time and costs associated with this stage will depend on the nature of the 
improvement/change, whether the works will be undertaken by LCC and whether there is an 
intention to transfer the ownership of the change/asset to LCC. 
 
The third party may request that once the scheme has been built ownership is transferred to 
Leicestershire County Council to maintain. If so a legal agreement will need to be reached 
for the future maintenance costs of the scheme including commuted sums. Transfer of 
ownership is not guaranteed. 
 
Further information on the design and build, including commuted sums can be found in the 
Leicestershire Highway Design Guide. 
https://resources.leicestershire.gov.uk/environment-and-planning/planning/leicestershire-
highway-design-guide 
 
Once the scheme has been approved and a detailed design check has been completed the 
third party can appoint a contractor to undertake the work. 
 
In order to ensure the design produced in phase 2 will be suitable to pass the required 
checks etc. it is beneficial to run some elements of phase 2 and 3 together. 
 

Phase 4 – Delivery / Construction / Maintenance 
 
The final stage is the delivery / construction of the improvement / change.  Again the costs 
will vary greatly dependent on the nature of the works.  LCC can deliver this phase on behalf 
of the third party; however in many cases due to the availability of our resources, it may be 
expedient to go to an alternative provider. 
 
 
Further Information 
 
Any enquiries relating to third party funded schemes should be sent to: 
customerservices@leic.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Environment and Transport Department  
March 2019 

44



 

  
 
 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE – 6 JUNE 2019 

 
A5 – WATLING STREET BRIDGE STRIKES, HINCKLEY 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide members with the background information to 

a presentation by Network Rail and Highways England, regarding bridge strikes at 
the A5 Watling Street rail bridge near Hinckley.  
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. Leicestershire County Council’s Strategic Plan 2018-22 (‘Working together for the 

benefit of everyone’) was adopted by the Council in December 2017. It contains five 
strategic outcomes, including, a growing and resilient economy and keeping people 
safe and protected from harm.   
 

3. Following comments made to the Cabinet in March 2018, Mr David Bill CC made a 
request to the Scrutiny Commissioners in December 2018, asking that Highways 
England and Network Rail be invited to a future meeting of the Scrutiny Committee to 
provide a presentation in response to an increasing number of bridge strikes by 
vehicles on the A5 Watling Street.  

 
Background  
 

The Bridge 
 

4. The bridge in question is located on the A5 Watling Street, between M69 junction 1 
(M69 J1) and the A47 Dodwells Roundabout, near Hinckley. The bridge is a rail 
bridge that crosses over the A5 carriageway (see Appendix A location plan).  
 

5. The bridge is owned and maintained by Network Rail and is located on the 
Birmingham to Peterborough line; which links Birmingham, Leicester, Peterborough 
via Nuneaton and Oakham (operated by CrossCountry).  

 
6. Bridges with headroom of less than 16’6” (5.03m) are classed as ‘low bridges’. 

These must be signed to identify the maximum height of a vehicle that can safely 
pass on the carriageway under the bridge. With a headroom clearance of 15’ 
(4.6metres) the A5 Watling Street bridge is classed as a ‘low bridge’.   

 
The A5  

 
7. The A5 runs for 275 miles from London to the ferry port of Holyhead and provides 

45 Agenda Item 12



 

direct connections to the M6, A38, M42, M69 and M1. The A5 is part of the wider 
trunk road network, which is maintained and operated by Highways England. 

 
8. In the Midlands region, the A5 consists of a mix of single carriage (40mph) and dual 

carriageway (50mph and national speed limit) sections.  
 

9. The Watling Street section of the A5 is single carriageway with a 50mph speed limit. 
It carries an average of 23,000 vehicles per day. 

 
10. The A5 accommodates significant HGV flows. On average HGVs account for around 

9% of all traffic along the A5, which is twice the national average for ‘A’ roads of 
4.5%. 
 

11. As a long distance route from the south-east to the north-west the A5 is strategically 
important, both to the regional and national economy. The corridor is a key artery for 
the movement of people and goods within the transport, manufacturing and logistics 
sectors, providing access to economic activity and growth. 

 
12. In Leicestershire the route is a focus for economic growth, specifically around:- 

 

 Hinckley, such as the MIRA enterprise zone, 

 Magna Park, and; 

 Lutterworth and the potential development east of Lutterworth. 
 

13. The route is also important for local connectivity linking local settlements, including 
Hinckley, Nuneaton and Lutterworth.  
 

14. The A5 provides network resilience for the surrounding trunk road network (M6, M69 
and the M1), but it comes under pressure if these roads are congested or closed due 
to planned works or emergency incidents. 

 
Bridge strikes 

 
15. Last year (2018) the number of bridge strikes across the whole rail network 

increased, making it the worst year for bridge strikes for five years. During this 
period, Leicestershire, alongside Cambridgeshire, have had the highest number of 
bridge srikes in the Country, with over 150 bridge strikes occurring in Leicestershire. 

 
16. In the 12 month period April 2017 to 31 March 2018 the A5 Watling Street bridge 

was struck 25 times, making it the third most struck bridge in the country. 
 

Existing measures  
 

17. There are a number of existing measures in place on the A5, between the M69 J1 
and M42 J8, to prevent strikes to this bridge. Mandatory traffic signs are in place on 
both approaches, in advance of the bridge. This signing gives drivers advance notice 
of the clearance height under the bridge in both metric and imperial units. 

 
18. Existing signage on the bridge structure includes ‘low bridge’ warning signs and 

additional warning chevrons. There are also mandatory roundel warning signs, to 
indicate the minimum clearance height under the bridge. 

 

46



 

19. There are also additional electronic message signs in both directions, in advance of  
the bridge. These involve vehicle height detectors, which are positioned on either 
side of the road. When triggered by high vehicles, an electronic sign illuminates to 
warn drivers that their vehicle is over height and that they should turn back. 
 

20. Highways England are responsible for the provision of traffic signs on the A5 in 
advance of the bridge. Network Rail, as owners of the bridge, facilitate the 
installation of traffic signs on the structure itself. 
 
Impact of bridge strikes (including diversion routes) 

 
21. Nationally, each year there are about 2,000 railway bridge strikes. Taking account of 

undelivered goods, lost productivity from train delays and road congestion etc these 
strikes are estimated to have an annual cost to the national economy of up to £23 
million.   

 
22. The impact of bridge strikes to the A5 Watling Street bridge may:- 

 

 Jeopardise the safety of the public using the A5 and the rail line; 

 Cause structural damage to the bridge; 

 Result in delays on both the road and rail line, particularly if strikes happen 
during peak times and the A5 is closed; 

 Cause congestion on the adjacent local road network; and, 

 Impact on residents, businesses and the local economy in Hinckley and villages 
in south Leicestershire. 

 
23. Following a bridge strike the A5 may need to be closed, requiring diversion routes. 

These diversion routes have been agreed between Leicestershire and Warwickshire 
County Councils, Highways England, Network Rail and Leicestershire and 
Warwickshire police.  A closure can involve a length of the A5 from the A47 Dodwells 
roundabout to the M69 J1, with north and south bound diversion routes put in place 
by Highways England and the police (see Appendix B). 

 
24. There are two other low bridges on local roads in the vicinity of the A5, on Nutts Lane 

and Rugby Road. Diversion routes are signed to avoid other low bridges and, where 
possible, traffic sensitive areas. However, drivers may choose to ignore diversion 
signs and divert onto less appropriate local roads (see Appendix A). 
 

25. Traffic diverted from the A5 onto the local road network may also exacerbate issues 
associated with the traffic management of road or street works. This impacts on the 
County Council’s ability, as the local highway authority, to manage the local road 
network and fulfil its statutory Network Management Duty.  

 
Resource Implications 

 
26. Officers will continue to work closely with the police to support Highways England 

and Network Rail in their efforts to reduce the frequency and impact of bridge strikes 
on the A5 and will keep Members updated, as appropriate. 
 

27. The Directors of Corporate Resources and Law and Governance have been 
consulted on the contents of this report. 

47



 

Conclusion 
 

28. There have been an increasing number of bridge strikes by vehicles travelling on the 
A5 Watling Street, near Hinckley. The Watling Street bridge is owned and maintained 
by Network Rail, whilst the A5 is maintained and operated by Highways England. 

 
29. The Watling Street section of the A5 carries significant numbers of HGV’s and 

provides network resilience for the surrounding trunk road network. 
 

30. There are a number of existing measures in place to prevent strikes to this bridge, 
including clearance height signs, ‘low bridge’ signs, warning chevrons and electronic 
message signs to warn drivers that their vehicles are too high for the bridge. 
Highways England is responsible for the provision of traffic signs on the A5, whilst 
Network Rail facilitate the installation of traffic signs on the bridge. 

 
31. In the 12 month period April 2017 to 31 March 2018 the A5 Watling Street bridge 

was struck 25 times, making it the third most struck bridge in the country. The impact 
of these bridge strikes includes an increase in casualties, delays and congestion on 
the A5 and surrounding local roads and an impact on residents, businesses and the 
local economy in Hinckley and villages in south Leicestershire. 

 
32. Officers will continue to work closely with the police to support Highways England 

and Network Rail in their efforts to reduce the frequency and impact of bridge strikes 
on the A5. Members will be kept informed, as appropriate. 
 

Background Papers 
 
County Council, 6 December 2017: ‘Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan and 
Single Outcome Framework’ 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5104&Ver=4  
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
Local Hinckley Members:- 
 

 Mr David Bill CC (Hinckley - Hollycroft) 

 Mrs  Amanda Wright CC (Burbage) 

 Mr Stuart Bray CC (Hinckley - St Marys) 

 Mr Michael Mullaney CC (Hinckley – De Montfort) 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
33. As a third party project, Highways England and Network Rail would be responsible 

for preparing any assessments, including an Environmental and Human Rights 
Impact Assessment for any projects relating to the A5 bridge at Hinckley. The County 
Council will examine its assessments and take account of these when identifying 
appropriate mitigation. 
 

Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 
34. Leicestershire County Council will continue to work in partnership with Highways 

48

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5104&Ver=4


 

England, Network Rail and the police in Leicestershire and Warwickshire to seek to 
reduce the frequency and impact of bridge strikes at the A5 Watling Street rail 
bridge. 

 
Appendices 

 
Appendix A – Location plan 
Appendix B – Diversion routes (north and south bound) 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers 
Director, Environment and Transport 
Tel:   (0116) 305 7000  
Email:  Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk  
 
Ian Vears 
Assistant Director, Environment and Transport 
Tel:   (0116) 305 7966  
Email:    Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk 

49

mailto:Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



A5 - Watling Street 
Bridge, Hinckley 

Leicester 

District/ County 
Boundary

KEY 

Author: L Godfrey
Date: 13.05.2019
Version: No. 9
Pathway: TSaP/Lisa/MAPPING/A5 

LEICESTER Warwickshire 

Staffordshire Hinckley & 
Bosworth 

Blaby 

Harborough 

A5

Leicestershire 
Bridge Location 

A47 

M69 

A5 

A5 

A5 

A47 

Other Low bridges in the 
vicinity to the A5 

A5 Watling Street- Looking NW A5 Watling Street- Looking SE

APPENDIX A
51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



A5, M69 J1 to Dodwells Island - North Bound Closure 

APPENDIX B 
53



A5, Dodwells Island to M69 J1 - South Bound Closure  

54



 

 
ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE: 6 JUNE 2019 
 

NORTH AND EAST MELTON MOWBRAY DISTRIBUTOR ROAD – 
PLANNING APPLICATION 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 

 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise on the North and East Melton Mowbray 

Distributor Road (MMDR) planning application and update on issues around the risk-
sharing agreement with Melton Borough Council (Melton BC) regarding developer 
contributions to the scheme that is still being finalised. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
2. Both the Cabinet and Scrutiny have received a number of reports in recent years on 

the transport strategy for Melton Mowbray and development of a distributor road.  
See Background Papers below. 

  
3. At its meeting on 12 December 2017 the Cabinet noted the outcome of consultation 

on the proposed northern and eastern route of the MMDR and further work that had 
been undertaken to develop the Outline Business Case (OBC).  The Cabinet 
reaffirmed its earlier decision to prioritise the northern and eastern sections of the 
MMDR, approved the ‘recommended route’ for further development and consultation, 
and agreed to commit funding to submit the planning application and to carry out all 
further necessary work to prepare the scheme for construction - subject to the 
necessary processes being completed.  The Cabinet authorised officers to carry out 
various activities including continued dialogue with landowners and other 
stakeholders, acquiring land by agreement, and preparatory work in connection with 
any required Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPOs). 

 
4. In view of the extremely tight timescale, the Cabinet authorised the Chief Executive 

to approve and submit the OBC to the Department for Transport (DfT) by 22 
December 2017.  The Director of Environment and Transport was authorised to 
undertake further engagement and consultation arising from any changes/ 
improvements to the recommended route arising from detailed design work and 
feedback and to agree the ‘Preferred Route’ for planning and acquisition purposes.   

 
5. It was noted that a further report would be submitted to the Cabinet prior to the 

submission of the planning application. 
 
6. In July 2018 Cabinet received a report on progress with the scheme.  The Cabinet 

authorised the submission of a planning application, and agreed that minor 

55 Agenda Item 13



 

alterations be made to the scheme as required during detailed design work, 
discussions with landowners/stakeholders continue to secure land needed for the 
scheme, and that Compulsory Purchase Orders and Side Roads Orders be made, 
confirmed and implemented.  The Director of Corporate Resources was authorised to 
sign a Heads of Terms between the County Council and Melton BC. 

 
7. As detailed in previous reports on the matter, the development of the MMDR is 

consistent with a number of the Council’s plans and policies, including:- 
  

 The third Leicestershire Local Transport Plan (LTP3), which contains six 
strategic transport goals, of which Goal 1 is to have a transport system that 
supports a prosperous economy and provides successfully for population 
growth; and, 

 

 The Council’s Enabling Growth Action Plan, which supports the development of 
market towns for employment land as a priority and refers specifically to 
working with Melton BC to plan for Melton Mowbray’s growth. 

 
Planning Application - Ref. 2018/Reg3Ma/0182/LCC 
 
8. Following the most recent Cabinet report (July 2018) work has been underway to 

progress the detailed design of the North and East MMDR scheme. This has 
included modelling, archaeological and ecological surveys, ground investigations, 
design work and extensive engagement with landowners. 
 

9. The planning application was submitted in October 2018. The application was 
submitted to the County Council as the Planning Authority: in accordance with 
Regulation 3 of the Town & Country Planning General Regulations 1992.  Under this 
regulation, the County Council determines planning applications for development 
which it is carrying out (or which is being carried out on its behalf). The detailed 
submission can be viewed via the County Council’s Planning Portal. 

 
10. The County Planning Authority undertook a 30-day public consultation exercise on 

the planning application, from 14 October to 19 November 2018. A number of 
comments were received from interested parties, landowners and stakeholders. 
 

11. As a result of feedback from the consultation exercise a small number of minor 
modifications were required to the proposals and some additional information was 
required to be provided. This formed an Addendum to the planning application, which 
was supplied to the Planning Authority on 18 March 2019. An additional 30-day 
consultation period took place, which concluded on 24 April 2019. 
 

12. Following a request from the Planning Authority, a trenching report and an 
Archaeological Impact Assessment were submitted as another Addendum to the 
application. This necessitated a further 30-day consultation which ended on the 21 
May 2019. 
 

13. The planning application was considered by the Development Control and 
Regulatory Board on 23rd May 2019 and permission granted subject to conditions.   

 
 
 

56

http://leicestershire.planning-register.co.uk/Disclaimer?returnUrl=%2F


 

 
Financial Risk 
 
14. The total cost of the north and east section of the MMDR scheme is currently 

estimated to be £63.5m. The majority of this is anticipated to be covered by the 
award of £49.5m by the DfT from the Large Local Majors Fund. This funding is 
subject to submission of the Full Business Case and final approval by DfT expected 
spring 2020. 
 

15. Thus, in broad terms, the financial exposure for the County Council is in the region of 
£14m. It is expected that this will be recouped in later years through developer 
contributions (payments towards the cost of local infrastructure requirements arising 
from development approved in the main by Melton Borough Council as the Local 
Planning Authority). Although a number of development applications remain to be 
submitted and determined, to date contributions to the road through signed 106 
agreements total over £7.4m. The earliest point at which the first instalment of 
contributions could be expected is the end of 2020. 
 

16. The estimated cost to take the scheme through design to the point of being able to 
commence construction work is £4.1m. An additional estimated £500,000 of design 
risk cost has been identified through the Outline Business Case quantified risk 
assessment and risk workshops. These risks relate to staff resourcing, complexity of 
design issues (particularly within floodplain and relating to structures), requirements 
of statutory undertakers and delays due to the statutory order process. If this risk was 
realised this would result in a total forecast cost to construction of £4.6m. 
 

17. It should be noted that no additional funding will be available from the DfT over and 
above the £49.5m. 
 

18. Leicestershire County Council and Melton BC had agreed Heads of Terms and 
discussions are ongoing to agree a financial risk sharing agreement, in support, to 
enable an equitable means of repayment of the £14m the County Council is forward 
funding to ensure delivery of this infrastructure. 
 

19. As with all major schemes there is a likelihood of cost overruns. Although the work 
completed to date seeks to estimate as accurately as possible the scheme cost, the 
funding agreement with Melton BC will also need to address this. 

 
Timetable 

 
20. It is currently expected that the scheme programme will be:- 
 

 Risk Sharing agreement signed by the Council and Melton BC (Summer 2019); 

 Making of the Statutory Orders - CPO and Side Roads (Summer 2019); and, 

 Statutory Orders Objection period (with any required public inquiry being 
concluded and a favourable decision being made by autumn 2020). The 
process for Statutory Orders comprises the drafting making of orders setting out 
Compulsory Purchase requirements and impacts on Side Roads (existing 
highways and other rights of way) (July 2019) followed by an objection period, 
possible public inquiry and inspector’s report and recommendations. This 
process is included in the design programme. The potential for a public inquiry 
is being mitigated through ongoing discussions with landowners around impact 

57



 

minimisation and potential compensation packages. If a public inquiry is not 
required this would accelerate the programme, resulting in a potential main 
construction start date of autumn 2020. 

 
And, subject to the above and all other necessary processes:- 
 

 Procurement Process begins; 

 Approval of Full Business Case by the DfT and release of funding (Spring 
2020), subject to Cabinet approval; 

 Land acquisition (December 2020); 

 Contract Award (December 2020); 

 Construction begins (February 2021); 

 Construction ends (March 2023); and, 

 Road opens (May 2023). 
 

21. Should the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) bid for the Southern section of the 
MMDR be successful, it is expected that the project scope for the existing North & 
East MMDR scheme would be widened to include this southern section. The 
southern link of the road is subject to award of HIF monies by Homes England and 
will be covered in a separate report to the Cabinet once the outcome of the bid is 
known. If the HIF bid is successful the risk share agreement with Melton BC will need 
to cover the Southern as well as the North and East sections of the road. 
 

Resource Implications 
 
22. The total cost of the north and east section of the MMDR scheme is currently 

estimated to be around £63.5m, including further development costs and project 
development and construction risk, of which £49.5m has been awarded by the DfT 
from the Large Local Majors Fund. 
 

23. In broad terms, the financial exposure for the County Council is in the region of 
£14m. It is expected that this will be recouped in later years through developer (s106) 
contributions. However, given the demands on the Authority’s finances, Heads of 
Terms for a risk sharing agreement has been reached with Melton BC to develop a 
mechanism for risk sharing using  the growth in business rates, council tax and new 
homes bonus received by the County Council and Melton BC as a result of 
investment in the new road and so the County Council can recoup its forward funding 
contribution. The exact nature of the agreement, in terms of how the level of 
contribution from each party will be decided, is still being considered. 

 
Timetable for Decisions 
 
24. The outcome of the planning application together with the financial risk-sharing 

issues above will be considered by the Cabinet on 25 June 2019. 
 

25. A further Cabinet report will be taken prior to submission of the Final Business Case 
in late 2019 and again prior to any agreement being signed for award of DfT funding. 

 
26. The Directors of Corporate Resources and Law and Governance have been 

consulted in the preparation of this report. 
 

 

58



 

 
Background papers 
 
10 March 2017 – Cabinet - ‘Melton Mowbray Transport Strategy and Distributor Road – 
Development of a Business Case and Identification of a Preferred Route’: bit.ly/2J8AKGe  
 
10 March 2017 – Cabinet - ‘Environment and Transport Interim Commissioning Strategy 
2017/18 Refresh’: bit.ly/2J8AKGe  
   
12 December 2017 – Cabinet – ‘Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Proposals’: 
bit.ly/2GMnOTB  
 
6 July 2018 – Cabinet – ‘North and East Sections of the Melton Mowbray Distributor Road 
Proposal’: bit.ly/2Lia7RF  

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
A copy of this report and the Cabinet report has been circulated to Members representing 
the electoral divisions in the Melton area – Mr. J. T. Orson CC, Mr A. E. Pearson CC, Mrs 
P. Posnett CC, and Mr J. B. Rhodes CC. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
27. An Equality and Human Rights Screening Report has previously been produced for 

this scheme and submitted as part of the Cabinet report dated 6 July 2018. See 
Background Papers above. 

 
28. The full Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment formed part of the planning 

application submission and can be viewed online – see Planning Application section.  
This includes full details of assessed impacts and proposed mitigation where 
applicable. 

 
Environmental Impact 
 
29. A full assessment of the environmental impacts of the scheme was conducted as part 

of the Environmental Impact Assessment submitted with the planning application. 
This information is available through the LCC planning portal. 

 
Officer to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers  
Director, Environment and Transport 
Tel:   (0116) 305 7000 
Email: Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk 
 
Ian Vears 
Assistant Director, Environment and Transport 
Tel:  (0116) 305 7966 
Email: Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk 

59

file://LCCFP2/CEXDATA/Democratic%20Services/Committee%20Servicing/Cabinet%202019/6.%2025%20Jun%202019/NE%20MMDR/bit.ly/2J8AKGe
file:///C:/Users/adjackson/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/YFT307HI/bit.ly/2J8AKGe
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4866&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5412&Ver=4
mailto:Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE:  6 JUNE 2019 

POTENTIAL TRANSFER OF PART OF THE ASHBY CANAL  

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT  

Purpose of report 

1. To seek the views of the Committee on the potential transfer of the land 
associated with a section of the Ashby Canal, between Snarestone and Measham, 
to the Ashby Canal Association (ACA), along with the associated Transport and 
Works Act Order (TWAO) that grants the powers to restore the canal. 
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions  
 
2. Further to a Cabinet decision on 4 February 2003 and County Council approval on 19 

May 2004, the Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
approved a TWAO (Statutory Instrument 2005 No.2786) for Leicestershire County 
Council (LCC) to restore the Ashby Canal between Snarestone and Measham. 

 
3. Cabinet approved the completion of the acquisition of all land required for that 

restoration on the 23 October 2007. 
 

Background  
 
4. The Council has led on the restoration of the Ashby Canal since 1994, including the 

purchase of land for the purpose of restoration, under the TWAO. The Council 
remains committed to restoration of the canal but is unable to progress as quickly as 
stakeholders would like, owing to lack of resources. 

 
5. The Ashby Canal Association (a charity established in 1966 to promote the 

restoration of the Ashby Canal) has indicated a willingness to take on the 
ownership and the obligations and responsibilities under the TWAO; subject to 
the Department for the Environment & Rural Affairs (Defra) consent, in seeking 
to restore the next section of canal, between Snarestone and Measham. 

 
6. The Council would need to apply for consent from the Secretary of State for the 

Environment & Rural Affairs to transfer the TWAO. Defra have outlined the 
process for making an application, shown in Appendix A.  

 
7. The Council owns further sections of land to the north of the A42 between 

Donisthorpe and Moira, which are not being considered as part of this proposal 
because restoration of this section is a longer term ambition.  

61 Agenda Item 14



8. The section of canal in Measham, just north of that proposed for transfer to the 
ACA, has not been included due to the potential for the Council to enter into an 
agreement with a housing developer to construct a section of canal, and an 
option to develop a wharf in Measham. This area has also more recently been 
impacted by the proposed route of HS2. The County Council may consider 
making a case to HS2 Ltd for compensation or mitigation to benefit the canal 
restoration project. It is not known whether the case would be successful, or if 
multiple ownerships of canal land would have an impact on any such case.   

Proposal  

 
9. There are not considered to be any realistic alternative options to either LCC 

retaining ownership of the canal or transferring it to the ACA.  The process 
DEFRA requires in order to successfully transfer the TWAO involves a 
consultation exercise.  As such, there will be an opportunity for any other 
interested parties to come forward during the consultation period.  
 

10. The ACA are currently finalising a business case to outline why the Council 
might consider a transfer to them. It will cover the majority of the requirements 
outlined by Defra, which would constitute part of the submission. 

 
11. The proposal would involve the transfer of:- 

 

 The section of canal and land purchased for its restoration between Snarestone 
and Measham up to but not including the wharf site, as shown on the plan 
attached at Appendix B; and, 

 

 The powers and responsibilities given to LCC under the TWAO. Leicestershire 
County Council would need to restrict the use of the land for the purposes of 
building a canal and using as a canal (and ancillary uses) to comply with the 
Council’s obligations to obtain best value for any disposal of land. 

 
12. The ACA are keen to press ahead with the transfer as soon as possible as they 

have raised funding and completed other preparatory work ready to build the 
Gilwiskaw Aqueduct, as the next major structure required for the canal’s 
restoration. They are also keen to follow up on their recent, successful Heritage 
Lottery Funded project at Ilott Wharf, with a larger bid to restore the next mile of 
canal between the end of its currently watered section at Bridge 62 (just north of 
Snarestone) up to the aqueduct. 

Consultation  

13. A 6-week period of public consultation began on 9 May 2019 and will conclude 20 
June 2019. A consultation survey is being made available on LCC’s website, with a 
paper version also available on request. The consultation has been publicised in the 
local press; and has been notified directly to Local Members, North West 
Leicestershire District Council, local parish councils, Ashby Canal Trust, 
Environment Agency, Natural England, the Canal & River Trust and the National 
Forest Company. Respondents were asked for their comments on the proposal and 
for any suggested alternatives for restoring this section of canal. 

62

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/have-your-say/current-consultations/ashby-canal-transfer-consultation


14. In addition, the ACA gathered views on the potential transfer in September 2018. 
They published a press release, which was printed in three newspapers local to 
Measham, other journals, on Facebook and was circulated through their own 
networks. In addition, visitors to the Shackerstone Family Fun Day festival were 
asked their views. In total, the ACA received 50 responses that supported the 
proposed transfer and no responses opposing.  

Resource Implications 

15. The Council’s Estates Team advise that, due to the proposed restrictions contained 
in any future terms of transfer that will limit the use of the land to the canal, the 
value of the land proposed for transfer is £nil.  

16. Transfer would alleviate the Council of its lead role in the Canal’s restoration and 
responsibility for the maintenance of this section of the Ashby Canal.  It would 
however, retain responsibility for those sections of the canal as set out in 
paragraphs 7 and 8 of this report. 

17. The transfer agreement could potentially include an allocation of funding to provide 
interim support to the ACA in taking ownership of the identified section of the canal 
restoration project. The amount and terms of the funding allocation would be 
negotiated between the Council and the ACA and would be subject to final approval 
by Cabinet. Any agreed funding allocation would be met from existing budgets.  

 
Legal issues 

18. The issues relating to the transfer of the canal land and the TWAO powers are 
complex.  Accordingly, it was considered appropriate to obtain Counsel’s Opinion  on 
the proposed process and whether there were any further requirements on 
Leicestershire County Council in transferring the Canal asset, in particular 
concerning Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 (“S123 LGA”) and The 
Crichel Down Rules (“the Rules”). Local authorities have an obligation under S123 
LGA to obtain best value for any disposal of land.  The Rules are contained in a 
guidance note on compulsory purchase produced by the Ministry of Housing 
Communities and Local Government and they require acquiring authorities to offer to 
sell at market value any land acquired by compulsory purchase or under threat of 
compulsory purchase which has become surplus to requirement to the landowner 
from whom the land was originally acquired.  Although it is not obligatory for local 
authorities to comply with these Rules it is considered best practice. Counsel 
advised that the proposed transfer to ACA would not contravene the best value duty 
in S123 LGA nor the Rules.  No significant concerns or additional requirements were 
raised.  

19. Counsel did however recommend that the restriction on use for a canal be secured 
by a Section 106 agreement (pursuant to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) 
entered into with the ACA, to ensure that successors in title to the ACA are bound by 
the restriction on use.   

 

 

63



20. Counsel also advised that the risks of a proposed transfer to ACA are that:- 

 Defra refuses to give consent to the proposed transfer on the basis that either it 
does not have the authority under the TWAO to grant such consent or because 
it considers that ACA do not have the necessary resources or capacity to 
undertake the canal works or for any other reason; 
 

 Leicestershire County Council would not be able to require as a condition of the 
proposed transfer that the canal works are undertaken (only permit them to be); 
 

 Leicestershire County Council would lose control of the restoration of the canal 
process and the land needed for it after the proposed transfer takes place but 
to balance this, the County Council  would not have the obligations and 
liabilities; and, 
 

 ACA, as the undertaker after the proposed transfer, would have the power to 
make byelaws which could prohibit or restrict use of the canal or make charges, 
although these would be subject to Secretary of State’s confirmation. 

21. To protect the Council from future claims arising as a result of the works undertaken 
after the proposed transfer, the ACA would be required to provide an appropriate 
level of insurance, such as Public Liability, so that they become fully responsible for 
the land in its current state and any sections that they restore to canal. 

22. The Director of Law and Governance has been consulted on this report. 

Timetable for Decisions 

23. A report will be submitted to Cabinet on 13 September 2019, detailing the results of 
the consultation and to seek a final decision on whether to formally apply to the 
Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and then (if 
successful) to make the transfer of the land and associated TWAO, as set out in the 
report.   

Background papers 

24. None. 
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

25. Mr. D. Harrison CC, Ibstock & Appleby and Mr. S. Sheahan CC, Forest & 
Measham.  

 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 

26. There are no significant equality or human rights implications directly arising 
from this report. An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) 
screening exercise has been completed and concluded that a full impact 
assessment was not required. 

 

64



Appendices  
 
Appendix A - Defra requirements for an application to transfer the TWAO 
Appendix B - Map of the proposed section of the Ashby Canal route for transfer 
Appendix C - Further background information 
 

Officers to Contact 
 

Ann Carruthers 
Director, Environment and Transport 
Tel:  (0116) 305 7000 
E-mail: Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk  
 
Joanna Guyll 
Assistant Director, Environment and Waste 
Tel:   (0116) 305 8101 
E-mail: Joanna.Guyll@leics.gov.uk  
 

 

65

mailto:Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Joanna.Guyll@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 
DEFRA Application Process for Transfer of TWAO 

 
Annex A: Process for applications seeking Secretary of State's consent for 
transferring powers under Transport and Works Act Order 2005 

The following provides a step by step outline of the application process for Leicestershire 
County Council seeking the Secretary of State's (SoS) consent in order to transfer powers 
under the Transport and Works Act Order 2005. 

1. For any request for consent from SoS for the transfer of powers under the Transport 
and Works Act Order 2005, Leicestershire County Council will need to provide as much 
information as possible regarding the transfer. This list is not exhaustive but the 
information should include: 
 
a) a description of the land and what it is currently used for with regard to the canal; 

 
b) a precise outline of what the transfer is for and why it is necessary; 

 
c) if any other options have been explored; 

 
d) how the requirements for a transfer under the Transport and Works Act Order 2005 have 

been met; 
 

e) an outline of the possible impacts a transfer will have on that land/canal and issues to be 
taken into account by the SoS. This list below is not exhaustive but the information 
should include: 

(i) will public access on both the towpath and navigation on the canal be 
affected in any way: 

(ii) how will landscape, biodiversity, water quality, flood risk management etc be 
affected; and 

(iii) if so what mitigation procedures will be in place for (i) and (ii); 
 

f) an overview of what consultation or public scrutiny has been held and the 
outcome of that consultation or, if no consultation has been held, an explanation 
as to why; 
 

g) a copy of any plans and any photos for the land/canal concerned; and 
 

h) any extra information that is deemed necessary for the Secretary of State to 
consider as part of her considerations. 
 

2. The letter, covering all this detail, should then be sent to the Inland Waterways team, 
Defra (rachel.boulderstonendefraxistqov.uk.  
 

3. Subject to any questions, or the need for any further information and/or clarification on 
the information which has been provided above, a letter will be sent setting out the 
Secretary of State's decision as to whether or not she has given her consent for the 
proposed transfer under the Transport and Works Act Order 2005. 

Inland Waterways Team 
April 2017 

67

http://rachel.boulderstonendefraxistqov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Reproduced from an Ordnance Survey map with the
permission of the Controller of HMSO
® Crown Copyright.  Leicestershire County Council
 Licence number . 100019271

Not to Scale @
A3 Portrait

March 2019

Potential Land Transfer
Ashby Canal, Measham Strategic Property Services

Corporate Resources Department
County Hall, Glenfield
Leicester LE3 8RE

Ilott
Wharf

Donisthorpe
Woodland

Country Park

Measham
Wharf

Former
boat shed

Potential land to be transferred

Land to be retained by LCC

69

HHUDSON_3
Text Box
APPENDIX B



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C 
Ashby Canal Potential Transfer - Further background 

 
1. Since 1994, LCC has led on the restoration of the Ashby Canal, which was closed in 

1966 due to mining subsidence.  The last significant section (500m) was restored in 
2014/15 from Snarestone, to the new Bridge 62.  This cost £1.1m and was funded 
from a section 106 contribution from the Minorca open cast mine. 

 
2. LCC has taken entry on all the necessary land and has completed the purchase of the 

line of the canal from Snarestone to Measham, using powers granted by the Transport 
and Works Act Order, on all but 2 small parcels of land.  It is expected that these will 
be concluded shortly, so should not affect the transfer timetable proposed. 

 
3. The restoration has, to date, been substantially funded from third party sources.  With 

limited capital remaining or further sources of funding, LCC has limited capacity to 
invest in the project but has come under increasing pressure from stakeholders to do 
more. 

 
4. As an alternative option to transfer, LCC began drafting a licence to allow the Ashby 

Canal Trust (ACT) to build the Gilwiskaw Aqueduct, as the next phase of canal 
restoration.  However, stakeholders wanted to progress the whole scheme and so (in 
the context of limited resources) LCC gave them the option of either pursuing the 
construction of the aqueduct or transferring responsibility for restoring a much longer 
section of the canal instead and they chose the latter. 

 
5. It was later acknowledged that the Ashby Canal Association (ACA) might be a more 

appropriate organisation than the ACT to transfer to, as they are longer established 
(as a Registered Charity and a Company Limited by Guarantee since 1966), have 
more substantial funding and membership support (around 500 members currently)   

 
6. It is considered that the ACA, as a charity with the sole purpose of restoring and 

promoting the canal, might be better placed than the Council to secure funding for the 
canal’s restoration.  They successfully completed a £10,000 Heritage Lottery Fund 
(HLF) project to explore and engage local people with the archaeology of Ilott 
Wharf,on the route of the canal, which LCC permitted them to do under a licence.  
They have also raised over £100,000 in donations to restore the Gilwiskaw Aqueduct. 

 
 
 

71



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE - 6 JUNE 2019 

 
CLEAN AIR STRATEGY 2019 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. To provide an overview of the Government’s Clean Air Strategy 2019, with an 

emphasis on those aspects relevant to the Environment and Transport 
Department namely in relation to transport, highways and the environment. In 
addition, the report also highlights the public health aspects of the Strategy, the 
cross-sectoral response to the Strategy and the possible implications for 
Leicestershire County Council. 

 
2. The Committee is asked to note the contents of the report. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
3. The UK Government and the devolved administrations have policy responsibility 

for air quality in England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland respectively. 
 

4. Local authorities in Great Britain also have powers to tackle local air pollution 
via the Clean Air Act 1993, the Road Traffic (Vehicle Emissions) (Fixed Penalty) 
(England) Regulations 2002 and equivalent legislation in Scotland and Wales. 
The latter includes enforcement powers for stationary idling offences. 

 
5. Local authorities are required to review and assess local air quality, in 

accordance with the statutory Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) guidance. 
Where a local authority identifies areas exceeding statutory limits and there is 
relevant public exposure, it is required to declare the geographic extent of 
exceedance as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). It must then draw up 
an action plan detailing remedial measures to address the problem.  

 
6. In two-tier authority areas, the duties placed on local government associated 

with air quality management are the responsibility of district authorities. This 
includes identification of AQMAs, monitoring and reporting on air quality, 
producing and delivering action plans, and assessing the impact of 
development on air quality through the planning process. 
 

7. However, there are obligations on both the county and district councils within 
Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 in relation to air quality. The Secretary of 
State expects lower and upper-tier councils to work together to develop their 

73 Agenda Item 15



approach and, with respect to action plans, ensure that all necessary measures 
to address air pollution in their local area are included.  
 

8. Should a district provide evidence which attributes air pollution within an AQMA 
to the local road network, the County Council as the Local Highway Authority 
(LHA) has a role to play in working with them to identify and to seek funding 
sources for mitigation measures on the local road network (see paragraphs 44 
to 47 for further information). 

 
9. The Director of Public Health has a statutory duty to ensure that plans are in 

place to protect the health of the local population.  
 

10. The Council’s Environment Strategy 2018-2030, which was approved by 
Cabinet on 6 July 2018, includes aims to reduce pollution and the 
environmental impacts of travel and transport. There is also an aim to protect 
people from harm caused by the deteriorating condition of the environment. 

 
11. The Council’s Network Management Plan 2014-2026, which was approved by 

Cabinet on 1st April 2014, sets out a number of options available to tackle air 
quality, including; maintaining and managing the road network so that it 
operates as efficiently and effectively as possible, reducing the need to travel by 
car, encouraging the use of sustainable transport, influencing how people travel, 
and introducing improvements to tackle congestion. 

 
12. This is aligned with a stated aim of the Council’s Local Transport Plan 3, 

(approved by full Council on 23rd March 2011) “to continue to reduce the impact 
of traffic on individuals, communities and settlements”.  
 

Clean Air Strategy 2019 
 
13. The Clean Air Strategy constitutes the Government’s main plan to curb 

emissions of nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulphur dioxide, volatile oxide compounds, 
ammonia and particulate matter (PM2.5) emissions as required by the National 
Emissions Ceilings Directive and the Gothenburg Protocol underpinning it. The 
aim of the Strategy is to drive down the national emissions of pollutants, reduce 
background pollution, and minimise human exposure to harmful concentrations 
of pollution. 

 
14. The Strategy does not sit in isolation and has strong links with the Industrial 

Strategy, the Clean Growth Strategy, the Road to Zero Strategy and the 25 
Year Environment Plan. 

 
15. The Government says it will introduce a new strengthened legislative framework 

for tackling air pollution during 2019. This framework will be tied into the new 
environmental principles and governance framework that will be outlined in the 
Environment Bill which is being developed as part of the EU withdrawal 
process. 

 
16. The Strategy is structured into the following key sections and this report 

highlights the main points from each, particularly those that are more relevant to 
the Council:- 

74



 Understanding the problem; 

 Protecting the nation’s health; 

 Protecting the environment; 

 Securing clean growth and driving innovation; 

 Action to reduce emissions from transport; 

 Action to reduce emissions at home; 

 Action to reduce emissions from farming;  

 Action to reduce emissions from industry; and, 
 Leadership at all levels. 

 

17. The Strategy contains a mixture of existing and new actions and commitments. 
Appendix A provides a summary of the commitments made in the Clean Air 
Strategy 2019. 
 

Understanding the problem 
 
18. In terms of the problem, it is important to understand that many substances can 

pollute the air. Some are very harmful, and their sale and use is strictly 
regulated. Others are not immediately harmful but are released in thousands or 
millions of tonnes per year nationally as by-products of transport (road, rail, sea 
and air), energy production, chemicals manufacture, domestic combustion and 
farming. When released into the air these substances have gradual but 
significant impacts on health and the environment. 

 
19. Once released, air pollution is dispersed by the weather and can travel 

significant distances within and between countries. Pollutants mix and interact 
in the atmosphere, forming new compounds, and can be deposited on land and 
water. 

 
20. The impact of pollution depends on how much is emitted, how harmful it is and 

how it interacts with other substances in the air. It also depends on where it is 
emitted, its residence time in the atmosphere, and ultimately where it ends up 
and how sensitive the exposed population or environment is. 

 
21. Vulnerable individuals and sensitive habitats are at particular risk. Emissions 

contribute to local concentrations of pollutants, which occur where pollutants 
build up in significant quantities in particular locations, for example near busy 
roads, industrial installations or large intensive farming operations. 

 
22. It is exposure to high concentrations of pollutants that is most likely to directly 

result in adverse impacts. These impacts are cumulative, so we need to think 
about reducing exposure at all stages of life, at home, when travelling, at school 
and at work. 

 
23. While there has been a significant reduction in the level of most emissions since 

the 1970’s, some are still above recognised safe levels or targets set by the UK 
government. Figure 1 shows the trend in annual emissions for the main 
pollutants covered by the Strategy from 1970 to 2017. 

 

75



Figure 1: Trends in annual emissions of sulphur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, 
non-methane volatile organic compounds, ammonia and 
particulate matter (PM10, PM2.5) in the UK: 1970 – 2017. 

 

 
 
24. The main sources of air pollution are road transport, non-road mobile 

machinery, industry, domestic, agriculture, shipping and other transport such as 
rail and aviation. The different sources produce different levels and types of 
pollutants and have different effects on humans and habitats. Figures 2 – 4 
provide a graphic summary of the sources and impacts of three of the main 
pollutants namely, PM2.5, nitrogen oxides and ammonia. 

 
 
Figure 2: Overview of the sources and impacts of PM2.5 

 

 
 

 
 
 

76



Figure 3:  Overview and impacts of Nitrogen oxides 
 

 
 

Figure 4:  Overview and impacts of Ammonia 
 

 
 
 

25. In addition, the distribution and concentration of the various air pollutants varies 
across the country. Figure 5 below shows the annual mean background 
concentration of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) in 2016. The map clearly shows how it 
is concentrated in the main urban areas and along major national road routes. 
This includes Leicester City and the M1 in Leicestershire. 

 
 
 
 

77



Figure 5: Annual Mean Background NO2 Concentration, 2016 (μg m-3)  
 

 
Protecting the nation’s health 
 
26. Air pollution is a major public health risk ranking alongside cancer, heart 

disease and obesity. Recent research has estimated that man-made air 
pollution in the UK has an annual impact on shortening lifespans, equivalent to 
28,000 to 36,000 deaths. 

 
27. Public Health England (PHE), in the 2014 publication ‘Estimating Local Mortality 

Burdens Associated with Particulate Air pollution’ assess that over 300 deaths 
in Leicestershire can be attributed to PM2.5 pollution. Combined with pollution 
from Nitrous Oxides, this figure could be higher. This compares to alcohol 
related mortality (291 deaths in 2015), and excess winter deaths (approximately 
330 per year).  

 
28. Conditions caused by air pollution not only cause deaths but also significantly 

reduce quality of life. They also mean that people are less able to work and 
need more medical care, resulting in higher social costs and burdens to the 
National Health Service. Those most affected are the young and old. Public 
Health England has identified air pollution as a top priority for action. 

 
29. Deprived communities are more likely to experience adverse health effects from 

poor air quality because they are more exposed to air pollution, for example, by 
being close to major roads. 

 
30. Recent research commissioned by Public Health England has found that the 

health and social care costs of air pollution (PM2.5 and NO2) in England could 

78



reach £5.3 billion by 2035. This is a cumulative cost for diseases which have a 
strong association with air pollution: coronary heart disease; stroke; lung 
cancer; and childhood asthma. When all diseases are included, air pollution is 
expected to cause 2.4 million new cases of disease in England between now 
and 2035. 

 
31. Road vehicles are the main pollution source that people are exposed to in the 

most populated urban environments and the pollutants they cause and emit 
have the greatest health impacts. Combustion for heating, farming activities and 
certain industrial processes also contribute to air pollutant emissions, but these 
tend to be more diluted, contributing to background levels of air pollution. There 
are considerable differences in emissions between different vehicles and fuels. 
In general, diesel exhausts contain up to 30 times more PM than petrol or 
liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) / compressed natural gas (CNG), but all vehicles 
generate additional PM from friction of brakes and tyres and through re-
suspension of dust from road surfaces. 

 
32. There are currently 14 active AQMAs in Leicestershire (See Appendix B).  

These largely follow the map below in Figure 6 outlining PM2.5 levels across the 
county (cf. DPH Annual Report 2017).  

 
Figure 6:  Air quality in Leicestershire – PM2.5 

 
 
33. The Council has or is already taking action to respond to air quality and related 

health issues. These include:- 
 

79



 A commitment by the Health and Wellbeing Board to engage with local 
decision makers on air pollution, in particular to develop a strong strategic 
focus for tackling air pollution, championing action for all stakeholders, 
reviewing strategies and plans that may have an impact on air quality, 
recognising the air quality co-benefits and communicating with the public 
on air pollution; 

 Through the Leicestershire & Rutland Sport Strategy 2017-2021 
encouraging people to switch to active travel such as walking and cycling 
thus reducing the use of motor vehicles; 

 Developing a chapter on Air Quality and Health as part of the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) which will which provide a 
comprehensive assessment of the air quality and health related issues 
pertinent to Leicestershire and make recommendations on actions; 

 Development of a Leicestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership Action 
Plan which will deliver on the recommendations of the JSNA report; and, 

 Raise awareness of the Partnership Action Plan and active and 
sustainable travel campaign to coincide with World Environment Day on 
5th June and Clean Air Day on 20th June 2019. 

 
34. The commitments set out in the Strategy designed to protect the nation’s health 

are as follows:- 
 

 Aim to reduce the number of people living in locations above the10 μg/m3 
level by 50% by 2025; 

 Publish evidence in 2019 to examine what action would be needed in order 
to meet the World Health Organisation (WHO) annual mean guideline of 10 
μg/m3 of PM2.5; 

 Develop powers to enable targeted local action in areas with an air quality 
problem; 

 Develop guidance material for doctors and other health care professionals 
and embed air quality into health professionals education and training; 

 Help individuals and organisations understand how to reduce contributions 
to poor air quality; 

 Work with the media to improve access to air quality forecast information; 

 Provide personal air quality messaging system, particularly for those 
vulnerable to poor air quality; and, 

 Update appraisal tools and guidance so health impacts of air quality are 
considered in every relevant policy decision. 

 
Protecting the environment 
 
35. The Clean Air Strategy is part of a wider government vision for creating and 

maintaining thriving places where people can live, work, bring up families and 
enjoy their free time. 

 
36. The 25 Year Environment Plan sets out some of this wider vision in the form of 

the government’s plans to secure clean air and water, protect our natural 
heritage, innovate to achieve clean growth and increase resource efficiency. 
This will provide benefits to both the environment and the economy.  

 

80



37. The Strategy acknowledges that having clean, green and healthy environments 
in urban and rural areas are an essential component of progress, not a barrier 
to economic development. 

 
38. Over time, emissions of air pollutants have had negative impacts on plant and 

animal communities in many habitats. Some examples highlighted include; the 
impact of excess atmospheric nitrogen from farming practices on plants and the 
knock on effects on wildlife such as bees, butterflies and other insects; how 
excess nitrogen also contributes to the release of harmful greenhouse gases 
contributing to climate change; the impact of ground level ozone in reducing 
plant growth, flowering and crop yields, affecting nature, agriculture and 
horticulture; and the impact of micro-plastics from tyres on marine wildlife and 
the food chain. 

 
39. The commitments set out in the Strategy designed to protect the environment 

are as follows:- 
 

 Set a target for the reduction of damaging nitrogen deposition by 17% over 
England’s protected sensitive habitats by 2030 and review longer term 
targets; 

 Provide guidance to local authorities explaining how the cumulative 
impacts of nitrogen deposition on natural habitats should be mitigated and 
assessed through the planning system; and, 

 Monitor the impacts of air pollution on natural habitats and provide an 
annual report. 

 
Securing clean growth and driving innovation  
 
40. Clean growth means growing the national income whilst tackling air pollution, 

protecting the natural environment, and cutting greenhouse gas emissions. It is 
about boosting productivity by improving air quality, using resources efficiently 
and making the shift to a low carbon economy. The Clean Growth Strategy sets 
out the government’s plans to achieve this. 

 
41. Cleaner air leads to increased productivity through improvements in public 

health, leading to reduced workplace absence, and through the creation of an 
environment that is appealing to businesses and the public alike. 

 
42. There are significant opportunities for UK industries to become global leaders in 

clean, green technologies. The UK low carbon economy has the potential to 
deliver between £60 billion and £170 billion of export sales of goods and 
services by 2030. To help realise these opportunities, the Industrial Strategy 
announced a Clean Growth Grand Challenge, focused on maximising the 
advantages for UK industry from the global shift to clean growth. 

 
43. The commitments set out in the Strategy designed to secure clean growth and 

drive innovation are as follows:- 
 

 Consult on making the conversion of power stations from coal to biomass 
ineligible for future allocation rounds of the ‘contracts for difference’ 
scheme; 

81



 Phase out coal fired power stations; 

 Minimise the air quality impacts of the Renewable Heat Incentive Scheme 
and tackle non-compliance; 

 Support the development, manufacture and use of technologies, systems 
and services that improve air quality; and, 

 Provide a research programme to promote the development of cleaner 
technologies. 

 
Action to reduce emissions from transport 
 
44. The government has identified that the most immediate and urgent air quality 

challenge faced by local authorities is to tackle the problem of NO2 
concentrations around roads; road transport is responsible for approximately 
80% of roadside NOx concentrations. More than £3.5 billion has already been 
committed to tackle poor air quality through cleaner road transport. A number of 
commitments are set out in the Strategy designed to reduce emissions from all 
forms of transport:- 

 

 Provision of extensive guidance (such as the Clean Air Zone Framework 
for England published in 2017) for local authorities directed to develop 
local air quality plans to address roadside NOx concentrations, which 
exceed EU limits. This includes Leicester City Council, who are currently 
working with the government’s Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU), to carry out 
feasibility work to establish the location of exceedances and identify a 
package of measures to bring forward compliance. The County Council 
are working closely with the City Council, providing modelling support and 
assisting with the development of measures. No district council in 
Leicestershire has been required to prepare a plan; 

 

 Establishing a £1.7 billion Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) for new local 
transport infrastructure to boost productivity, reduce congestion and 
improve air quality by improving public and sustainable transport 
connectivity. The City Council has been shortlisted to receive a share of 
the TCF and the Council is currently working with the City Council to 
support the development of their TCF proposals; 
 

 £1.2 billion of additional investment in cycling and walking between 2016-
2021, as set out in the Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy. To date 
the County Council for example, have been successful in securing £115k 
pa for countywide Bikeability cycle training and £3.2m with the City 
Council for walking and cycling measures in the Leicester urban area; 
 

 Supporting a move to lower emission road vehicles and more active forms 
of travel; 
 

 Ending the sale of all new conventional petrol and diesel cars and vans by 
2040; 
 

 Researching and developing new standards for tyres and brakes to 
address toxic non-exhaust particulate emissions; 
 

82



 Reviewing current uses of red diesel and ensuring its lower cost is not 
discouraging a transition to cleaner alternatives; 

 

 Publication of the Aviation 2050 and Maritime 2050 strategies; 
 

 Requiring ports to produce air quality strategies by the end of 2019; 
 

 Passing new legislation to enable the Transport Secretary to compel 
manufactures to recall vehicles for failures in emissions control systems; 
 

 Provision of a ring-fenced Strategic Freight Network fund to improve the 
capacity and capability of the rail network for freight and encourage modal 
shift; 
 

 Phasing out of diesel-only trains by 2040; and, 
 

 Exploring permitting approaches to reduce emissions from non-road 
mobile machinery. 

 
45. Many of these commitments fall outside of the direct responsibility of the County 

Council as LHA, either because they require national action by government, the 
funding streams are not appropriate to it, or because it does not have direct 
responsibilities for the particular mode of transport (e.g. rail).  

 
46. Other commitments are within the LHA’s remit, especially in respect of 

promoting more active forms of travel. Given the geography of the County of 
Leicestershire, i.e. an essentially rural area with the majority of main towns 
dispersed towards its boundary, ‘car-borne’ mobility will continue to remain an 
important form of transport for many residents (even if this becomes cleaner 
and more autonomous). Nevertheless, as set out in the report to the March 
meeting of this Committee on the National Institute for Health and Care 
Excellence Draft Quality Standards and how Leicestershire County Council 
might address them, the County Council’s Environment and Transport and 
Public Health Departments are pursuing a considerable range of initiatives to 
promote active travel. Briefly summarised, these initiatives include:- 

 

 seeking to ensure that new developments are designed to provide safe, 
high quality walking and cycling routes; 

 seeking to secure through the planning process developer contributions 
(Section 106 Agreements) towards cycling, walking and public transport 
improvements; 

 ensuring that cycling, walking and public transport is inherent within the 
design process of the County Council’s own highway improvement 
schemes, and where possible also looking to take opportunities to improve 
existing infrastructure and cater for sustainable travel options as part of 
any road maintenance schemes it undertakes; 

 promoting and encouraging active, safe and sustainable travel in schools 
and businesses and through its flagship ‘Choose How You Move’ brand 
and website; and, 

83



 delivery of specific projects, including working in partnership with Leicester 
City Council to deliver the £3 million (revenue) Department for Transport 
funded Access Fund project. 

 
47. The County Council’s Network Management Plan sets out a number of options 

available to tackle air quality, including; maintaining and managing the road 
network so that it operates as efficiently and effectively as possible, reducing 
the need to travel by car, encouraging the use of sustainable transport, 
influencing how people travel, and introducing improvements to tackle 
congestion. 

 
Action to reduce emissions at home 
 
48. One of the aims of the Strategy is to raise awareness of the breadth of everyday 

activities that contribute to air pollution. Many of these activities take place in 
and around the home. 

 
49. The principal forms of indoor air pollution are particulate matter (PM) and Non-

Methane Volatile Organic Compounds (NMVOCs). PM is produced by many 
forms of cooking and home heating, most notably from combustion in open fires 
and stoves. NMVOCs are emitted by a wide variety of chemicals that are found 
in carpets, upholstery, paint, cleaning products, fragrance, and personal care 
products. Sulphur dioxide (SO2) is emitted by coal burned in open fires. 

 
50. Indoor air pollution increases people’s exposure to emissions and the potential 

health implications. The Strategy seeks to raise awareness and to ensure 
people are armed with reliable information enabling them to make informed 
choices to protect themselves, their families and their neighbours. 

 
51. The commitments set out in the Strategy designed to reduce emissions at home 

are as follows:- 
 

 Legislate to prohibit the sale of the most polluting fuels; 

 Ensure that only the cleanest stoves are available for sale by 2022; 

 Develop a campaign to make users of domestic burners more aware of the 
environmental and public health impacts of their use; 

 Improve public awareness of the build-up of non-methane volatile organic 
compounds (NMVOC) in the home and the importance of ventilation; 

 Make it easier to enforce the existing smoke control legislation; 

 Give new powers to local authorities to take action in areas of high 
pollution; 

 Promote the development of lower VOC content products; 

 Better inform consumers about the VOC content of everyday products, e.g. 
voluntary labelling scheme; 

 Explore opportunities to align air quality work with clean growth and fuel 
poverty in future policy design; and, 

 Consult on changes to the Building Regulations standards for ventilation in 
homes and other buildings to help reduce build-up of harmful indoor air 
pollutants. 

 
 

84



Action to reduce emissions from farming  
 
52. Farming has an important role to play in protecting the environment by keeping 

the air and rivers clean, improving soils, and providing habitats for wildlife. 
However, farming is also a major contributor of some forms of air pollution, in 
particular ammonia (88% of UK emissions), methane (51% of UK emissions) 
and NMVOC (14% of emissions). 

 
53. The commitments set out in the Strategy designed to reduce emissions from 

farming are as follows:- 
 

 Regulations to reduce ammonia emissions by requiring adoption of low 
emissions techniques; 

 Ensure ammonia inventory reflects farming practice; 

 Provide a national code of practice to reduce ammonia emissions; 

 A future environmental land management system will fund protection of 
habitats impacted by ammonia; 

 Regulations to minimise pollution from fertiliser use; 

 Support farmers to invest in farm infrastructure that will reduce emissions; 
and, 

 Extension of environmental permitting to the dairy and intensive beef 
sectors. 

 
Action to reduce emissions from industry 
 
54. Industrial processes, including energy generation to power businesses and 

homes, and the manufacture of goods and food can all create pollution. These 
processes are carefully managed to avoid potentially significant impacts on 
health and the environment and this has already resulted in reductions in air 
pollution.  

 
55. However, emissions from industrial sources still contribute to background levels 

of pollution throughout the UK. Reducing these emissions further, alongside 
action on other sources, will have a direct impact on the concentration of air 
pollutants in those places where people live and work. 

 
56. The commitments set out in the Strategy designed to reduce emissions from 

industry are as follows:- 
 

 Maintain policy of continuous improvement in relation to industrial 
emissions; 

 ensure there is a clear process for determining future UK Best Available 
Techniques for industrial emissions; 

 consider closing regulatory gap between Eco-design and medium 
combustion plant regulations; and, 

 develop a series of ambitious sector roadmaps to make UK industry world 
leaders in clean technology. 

 
 
 
 

85



Leadership at all levels 
 
57. Air pollution does not stop at national or local borders and emissions produced 

in another part of the globe can impact on air quality in the UK and in 
Leicestershire. Because of this there is a need for leadership at all levels to 
tackle air pollution. 

 
58. The government set legally binding national emissions reduction targets in 

February 2018 and published an initial National Air Pollution Control 
Programme in April 2019.  A new Office for Environmental Protection will be 
established following the UKs exit from the EU to hold the government to 
account, including through legal proceedings if necessary on environmental 
legislation.  A new legislative framework for tackling air pollution will be 
introduced and will include new local powers to take action in areas with an air 
pollution problem. 

 
59. The Strategy acknowledges that the variability of local government structures, 

where responsibility for local air quality sits and the nature of the current 
legislative framework has not driven sufficient action at a local level. 
Furthermore, it says that the framework does not effectively encourage all local 
authorities to work collaboratively across departmental or structural boundaries 
or take a total emissions approach to tackling local air quality. 

 
60. In light of this, the government are considering a number of options including:- 
    

 Ensuring accountability sits at the right tier of the local government 
structure; 

 shifting the focus towards prevention, promoting greater action to avoid 
exceedances, rather than tackling air pollution only when limits are 
surpassed; 

 creating the concept of a ‘lead authority’ with requirements on 
neighbouring local authorities and other public bodies to work collectively 
to tackle air pollution; 

 requiring local authorities to create an action plan to reduce population 
exposure during Air Pollution Episodes to protect public health; 

 enabling greater local action on PM2.5 by updating the Smoke Control Area 
(SCA) framework; 

 enabling greater local action by improving guidance on the use of existing 
local powers, strengthening these powers where necessary and 
introducing new powers; and, 

 developing clear, effective guidance on how AQMAs, SCAs and Clean Air 
Zones (CAZs) interrelate and how they can be used by local government to 
tackle air pollution. 

 
61. The commitments set out in the Strategy designed to ensure leadership at all 

levels are as follows:- 
 

 Update the legislative framework for tackling air quality issues at a national 
and local level, tying this into the development of the Environment Bill; 

86



 strengthen collaboration between DEFRA and BEIS in order to fairly and 
objectively articulate the trade-offs between energy and public health when 
developing strategies; 

 establish an Office of Environmental Protection; and, 

 work with local authorities and Directors of Public Health to equip and 
enable them to lead and inform local decision-making to improve air 
quality. 

 
62. Many of the actions set out in this section of the Strategy will require greater 

action at a local level but will also make local action easier and less 
burdensome. The Strategy says that ‘where cost recovery is permitted and 
available, we will look to support local government to ensure it is able to fully 
cover their costs.’ 

 
Cross-sectoral responses to the Strategy 
 
63. While there has been a general welcome of the Clean Air Strategy as a 

strengthened plan of how the UK proposes to cut pollution, many groups have 
criticised the lack of detail and funding provided in the Strategy. 

 
64. There have been particular concerns about the effectiveness of the proposed 

actions to tackle air quality from transport and fears that the responsibility is 
being placed on local authorities with increasing resource pressures. 

 
65. There has been welcome of the government’s adoption of the PM2.5 standard 

and the pledge to halve non-compliance by 2025. 
 
Conclusions 
 
66. Despite the adoption of the Clean Air Strategy, the level of government funding 

available to tackle air quality issues is, in relative terms, small; the emphasis of 
the majority of available government funding is instead on economic growth and 
housing delivery. This reflects a general lack of concentrated and co-ordinated 
action by government to tackle air quality problems across the country, instead 
passing on responsibilities to individual authorities.  

 
67. Notwithstanding the initiatives outlined in paragraphs 46 to 47 of this report, 

Leicestershire continues to have heavy levels of traffic in many areas, with 
additional traffic pressures likely to be brought about as a result of population 
and economic growth. It is recognised that district councils in Leicestershire 
face a major challenge meeting future housing and employment needs without 
increasing congestion and reducing air quality.  

 
68. A planned approach to dealing with growth represents the best way to seek to 

address the challenge. The recently approved Leicester and Leicestershire 
Strategic Growth Plan to 2050 provides a strategic and coordinated approach to 
broad spatial plans and strategic infrastructure provision. This in turn will be 
supported by a Strategic Transport Plan which is currently in joint development 
with Leicester City Council. This will provide the strategic framework within 
which district councils develop their own Local Plans and the LHA will continue 
to provide input to their development. 

87



69. In the planning process the LHA is a statutory consultee and provides highway 
advice to districts on the impact of new development on the local highway 
network. In its ‘planning and development’ role the LHA will continue to work 
with districts to seek to ensure that development is located where there is 
convenient access to local amenities, public transport and walking and cycling 
facilities with the intention of reducing car journeys and avoiding creating future 
air quality problems.  

 
70. However, it is not within the remit of the LHA to comment on the air quality 

impact of development proposals. In accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework, the LHA has grounds to resist a planning application only 
where the highway impact of development is considered to be severe or where 
there is considered to be an unacceptable safety risk. Ultimately it is for the 
relevant Local Planning Authority, as the decision-making body, to determine 
the acceptability of development proposals. 

 
71. Given the above, there has to be a degree of realism about what can be 

achieved by the LHA in the short to medium-term in addressing air quality 
issues. 

 
72. Of increasing relevance is the Director of Public Health’s statutory duty to 

protect the health of the local population, particularly as air pollution is 
increasingly being seen as a serious public health issue. The Clean Air Strategy 
will inform the work of a steering group established to develop the 
Leicestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership Action Plan with the aim of 
improving air quality across Leicestershire and reducing or mitigating against 
the harmful health impacts of air pollutants. This will build on the actions set out 
in paragraph 33 and seek to compliment and support actions being undertaken 
as part of the delivery of the Council’s Environment Strategy. 

 
73. While this report has focussed on those aspects relevant to the Environment 

and Transport Department and Public Health the Council is also undertaking 
activity that contributes to other aspects of the Strategy such as:- 

 

 working with the LLEP in developing a Local Industrial Strategy that 
supports clean growth; 

 carrying out a Green Fleet Review to identify how the Council can reduce 
emissions from its operational and grey fleets; 

 ambition to create a low carbon sustainable development at the 
Lutterworth East scheme; 

 creating Fosse Energy with Leicester City Council which now provides 
affordable energy to residents from renewable sources; 

 developing a strategic approach to biodiversity for the Council 

 reducing the use of single use plastics; and, 

 an aspiration to examine how the environmental impact of the county farms 
portfolio might be reduced. 

 
Circulation under Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 
None.  

88



Equal Opportunities and Human Rights Implications  
 
None. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Commitments in the Clean Air Strategy 2019 
Appendix B – List of Active Air Quality Management Areas in Leicestershire 
 
Background Papers 
 
Leicestershire’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2017 – 2022: 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2016/10/11/Leics%20JH
WS%202017-22v2.pdf 
 
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2017. Leicestershire’s health – new 
insights into our population: 
http://www.lsr-online.org/uploads/dph-annual-report-2017.pdf 
 
7 March 2019 - Report to Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee – ‘National Institute for Health and Care Excellence Draft Quality 
Standards and How Leicestershire County Council Might Address Them’: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1044&MId=5703&Ver=4  
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers 
Director, Environment and Transport 
Tel: (0116) 305 7000 
Email: Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk  
 
Ian Vears 
Assistant Director, Highways and Transport 
Tel:  (0116) 305 7966 
Email: Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk  
 
Joanna Guyll 
Assistant Director, Environment and Waste 
Tel:  (0116) 305 8101 
Email: Joanna.Guyll@leics.gov.uk  

89

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2016/10/11/Leics%20JHWS%202017-22v2.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2016/10/11/Leics%20JHWS%202017-22v2.pdf
http://www.lsr-online.org/uploads/dph-annual-report-2017.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1044&MId=5703&Ver=4
mailto:Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Joanna.Guyll@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Appendix A: Commitments in the Clean Air Strategy 2019 in one table (Extracted from Public Health report) 

Better 
understand the 
problem 

Investment in modelling, data and analytical tools to give a more precise picture of current air quality and the impact of policies on it in future 
Increase transparency by bringing local and national monitoring data together into a single accessible portal 

Develop 
leadership at 
every level 

Update legislative framework for tackling air quality issues at national and local level, tying this into development of the Environment Bill 
Strengthen collaboration between Defra and BEIS, fairly and objectively articulate the trade-offs between energy and public health when developing strategies  
Establish an Office for Environmental Protection  
Work with LAs and DPHs to equip and enable them to lead and inform local decision-making to improve air quality  

Level of 
intervention/ 
commitment 

Specific aspect of Air Quality  

Protecting the nation’s 
health 

Protecting the 
environment 

Securing clean growth 
and driving innovation 

Reducing emissions for 
transport 

Reducing emissions at 
home 

Reducing emissions 
by farming 

Reducing 
emissions by 

industry 

Eliminate 
choice 

Develop powers to 
enable targeted local 
action in areas with air 
quality problem. 

 Consult on making 
coal to biomass 
conversions ineligible 
for future allocation 
rounds. 

End sale of new 
conventional petrol & 
diesel cars and vans by 
2040. 
 
New legislation so 
manufacturers recall 
vehicles for failures in 
emissions control 
system. 

Legislate to prohibit 
sale of most polluting 
fuels. 
 
Changes to Building 
Regulations standards 
for ventilation. 

Regulate to reduce 
ammonia emissions 
by requiring 
adoption of low 
emissions 
techniques. 
 
Regulate to minimise 
pollution from 
fertiliser use. 

Consider 
closing 
regulatory gap 
between Eco-
design and 
medium 
combustion 
plant 
regulations. 
 

Restrict choice   Phase out coal-fired 
power stations. 

 
 
 

Ensure only cleanest 
stoves on sale by 
2022. 

  

Guide choice 
by 
disincentives 

 Develop target 
for the reduction 
of damaging 
deposition of 
nitrogen- review 
longer term 
targets. 
 

Minimise air quality 
impacts of the 
Renewable Heat 
Incentive Scheme and 
tackle non- 
compliance. 
 

Work with Treasury to 
review uses of red 
diesel- ensure lower 
cost is not discouraging 
transition to cleaner 
alternatives. 
 
Permitting approaches 
to reduce emissions 
from NRM machinery. 
 

Changes to make 
enforcement of smoke 
control legislation 
easier. 

Extend 
environmental 
permitting to the 
dairy and intensive 
beef sectors. 
 
Ensure ammonia 
inventory reflects 
farming practice. 

 

Guide choice 
by incentives 

  Support development, 
manufacture and use 
of technologies, 
systems and services 
that improve air 
quality.  
 
Research programme 
to promote the 
development of 
cleaner technologies  

Develop, manufacture 
and use zero exhaust 
emissions vehicles 
 
Encourage use of 
cleanest modes of 
transport for freight and 
passengers, including 
active travel. 

Promote development 
of lower VOC content 
products. 

Support farmers to 
invest in farm 
infrastructure to 
reduce emissions. 
 
Environmental land 
management system 
to fund protection of 
habitats impacted by 
ammonia. 

Develop series 
of ambitious 
sector 
roadmaps to 
make UK 
industry world 
leaders in clean 
technology. 
 

91



2 
 

 

Guide choice 
by changing 
the default 
policy 

Develop guidance 
material for doctors 
and other HCPs- 
embed air quality into 
education and training. 

 
 
 

 Aviation 2050 recently 
published. 
 
Maritime 2050 strategy 
due - ports required to 
produce air quality 
Strategies by end of 
2019. 
 
In 2019 rail industry to 
produce route map to 
phase out diesel-only 
trains by 2040. 

Explore opportunities 
to align air quality 
work with clean 
growth and fuel 
poverty in future 
policy design. 

  

Enable choice Help individuals/ 
organisations 
understand how to 
reduce contributions 
to poor air quality. 
 
Work with media to 
improve access to the 
air quality forecast. 

 Improve energy 
efficiency to enable 
shift to cleaner power 
sources. 

 Better inform 
consumers about the 
VOC content of 
everyday products e.g. 
voluntary labelling. 
 

  

Provide 
information  
 
[plus develop 
the evidence 
base] 

Provide personal air 
quality messaging 
system -particularly 
those vulnerable to 
poor air quality. 
 
Update appraisal tools 
and guidance so 
health impacts of air 
quality considered in 
every relevant policy 
decision. 
 
[Publish evidence in 
2019 to examine action 
needed to meet the 
WHO annual mean 
guideline limit of 10 
g/m3]. 

Guidance for 
LAs explaining 
cumulative 
impacts of 
nitrogen 
deposition on 
natural habitats 
and mitigation/ 
assessment 
through the 
planning system. 
 
Monitor impacts 
of air quality on 
natural habitats 
and report 
annually. 
 

 [Develop standards for 
tyres and brakes to 
address 
toxic non-exhaust 
particulate emissions] 
 
 

Improve awareness of 
NMVOC build-up in the 
home and importance 
of ventilation. 
 
Campaign users of 
domestic burners, to 
improve awareness of 
impacts. 
 
[Identify an 
appropriate test 
standard for new solid 
fuels]. 

Develop national 
code of good 
agricultural practice 
to reduce ammonia 
emissions. 
 
[Ensure ammonia 
inventory based on 
latest evidence on 
emissions]. 
 
[Advice from expert 
group on policy 
approach to reduce 
pollution from 
fertiliser use]. 

 

Do nothing        Maintain policy 
of continuous 
improvement in 
relation to 
industrial 
emissions. 

92



 
Appendix B: List of Active Air Quality Management Areas in 
Leicestershire (Correct April 2019) 
 

AQMA Description 
Date 

Declared 
Date 

Amended 
Pollutants 

Blaby District Council 

AQMA 1 

Narborough Road 
South and Fosse 
Park. 

19/01/2001 20/10/2005 
Nitrogen 
dioxide NO2 

AQMA 2 

The M1 corridor in 
Enderby and 
Narborough. 

19/01/2001 20/10/2005 
Nitrogen 
dioxide NO2 

AQMA 3 

The M1 corridor 
between Thorpe 
Astley and Kirby 
Muxloe including 
the extension areas 
along the A47 
Hinckley Road 

19/01/2001 20/10/2005 
Nitrogen 
dioxide NO2 

AQMA 4b 

B582 Enderby 
Road, Whetstone 

20/10/2005   

Particulate 
Matter PM10 
Nitrogen 
dioxide NO2 

AQMA 6 

A section of the 
B582 in Enderby, 
known as Mill Hill 

13/09/2018   
Nitrogen 
dioxide NO2 

Charnwood Borough Council 

Great Central 
Railway 
AQMA 

An area 
encompassing a 
number of 
properties in the 
vicinity of the Great 
Central Railway 
locomotive 
engineering shed in 
Loughborough. 

29/11/2004   
Sulphur 
dioxide SO2 

Loughborough 
AQMA 

Residential 
properties along the 
main arterial routes 
through 
Loughborough. 

20/06/2001 29/11/2004 
Nitrogen 
dioxide NO2 

Syston AQMA 

Residential 
properties along the 
main road through 
Syston 

20/06/2001 29/11/2004 
Nitrogen 
dioxide NO2 

93

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=66
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=67
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=68
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=451
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=1753
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=408
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=408
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=408
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=15
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=15
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=17


Mountsorrel 
AQMA 

Hawcliffe Road 
numbers 49 to 55 
odd and 84 86 even 
6 properties in total 
Farnham Court, 
Bond Lane flat 
numbers 13 to 24 - 
12 properties in 
total. The 
designated area 
also incorporates 
the sections of 
highways to include 
all publicly owned 
land within 10 
meters of the 
kerbside of each 
Granite Way Wood 
Lane, Rushey 
Lane, Bond Lane. 

07/11/2011   
Particulate 
Matter PM10 

Harborough District Council 

Lutterworth 
AQMA 

The junction of the 
A426, George 
Street and Market 
Street in 
Lutterworth, 
including the 
boundaries of a 
number of nearby 
properties. 

18/07/2001 
04/04/2011 

 
16/04/2013 

Nitrogen 
dioxide NO2 

Kibworth  Area to the south of 
Wistow Road/ 
Leicester Road 
roundabout 
Kibworth 

01/11/2017   

2017 Air 
Quality 
Management 
Order 
(Nitrogen 
Dioxide) 
(Kibworth) 
order No1 
2017 

Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council 

None Active 

Melton Borough Council 

None Active 

North West Leicestershire District Council 

Kegworth 
AQMA 

Busy trunk road 
fronted by 
residential 
properties 

26/07/2004   
Nitrogen 
dioxide NO2 

94

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=1643#1213
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=1643#1213
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=138
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=138
https://www.harborough.gov.uk/downloads/file/3785/2017_air_quality_managment_order_nitrogen_dioxide_kibworth_order_no1_2017https:/www.harborough.gov.uk/downloads/file/3785/2017_air_quality_managment_order_nitrogen_dioxide_kibworth_order_no1_2017
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=41
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=41


M1 AQMA 

Motorway with 
selected close 
properties. 

26/07/2004 11/07/2011 
Nitrogen 
dioxide NO2 

Castle 
Donington 
AQMA 

An area 
encompassing the 
High Street and 
Bondgate area of 
Castle Donnington. 
The northern extent 
of the AQMA has 
been amended to 
include the junction 
of Bondgate with 
The Spittal and the 
southern extent 
shall extend to the 
Moira Arms. 

09/01/2008 22/01/2013 
Nitrogen 
dioxide NO2 

Coalville 
AQMA 

An area 
encompassing 
parts of 
Stephenson Way, 
Broom Leys Road 
and Bardon Road in 
Coalville. 

09/01/2008 
11/07/2011 

 
08/02/2012 

Nitrogen 
dioxide NO2 

Copt Oak 
AQMA 

An area 
encompassing 10 
properties in the 
part of the village of 
Copt Oak that lies 
within the 
boundaries of NW 
Leicestershire 
District Council. 

30/07/2009 22/01/2013 
Nitrogen 
dioxide NO2 

Oadby and Wigston District Council 

None Active 

Blaby Road, 
South 
Wigston 

Under investigation       

A6 (below 
ASDA) 

Under investigation       

 

95

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=44
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=609
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=609
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=609
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=610
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=610
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=614
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=614


 

96


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 7 March 2019.
	10 Response to Petition: Request for the Speed Reduction of the B581 Station Road
	11 Response to Petition: Requesting Action on Road Safety Grounds Covering Roads in Queniborough
	Appendix A - 7 PC Vehicle Activated Sign Report Jan 19
	Appendix B - Simplified Guide to Lorry Types and Weight
	Appendix C - Third Party Funding Guideline

	12 A5 - Watling Street Bridge Strikes, Hinckley
	306 - A5 Bridge Strikes 06.06.19 - Appendix A Location Plan
	306 - A5 Bridge Strikes 06.06.19 - Appendix B Diversion Routes

	13 North and East Melton Mowbray Distributor Road - Planning Application
	14 Potential Transfer of Part of the Ashby Canal
	Ashby Canal Transfer Appendix A - DEFRA Process V3
	Ashby Canal Transfer Appendix B - Map
	Ashby Canal Transfer Appendix C - Further background

	15 Clean Air Strategy 2019
	V1 Clean Air Strategy (E&TOSC 6 June 2019) report - Appendix A
	V1 Clean Air Strategy (ETOSC 6 June 2019) report - Appendix B v2


